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. CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

[ ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Wecon Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present to our shareholders (the “Shareholders”) the annual
report of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The revenue of our Group decreased by approximately
HK$100.8 million or approximately 8.4% from approximately
HK$1,204.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$1,103.2 million for the year ended 31
March 2021. For the year ended 31 March 2021, the net profit
attributable to the equity holders was approximately HK$19.2
million which decreased by approximately HK$31.3 million as
compared to that for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PROSPECTS

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) at
the beginning of 2020 has made the operating environment
difficult and has created challenges to various industries in
Hong Kong. The negative impact brought by the Pandemic had
caused an adverse effect on the Group’s business, which led
to a delay in the delivery of raw materials to the construction
sites and progress of certain construction projects, which
caused a drop in revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021. However, the Group had took the necessary
measures to maintain its construction works performed within
the planned schedule during the outbreak of the Pandemic.
The management of the Group will continue to monitor the
development of the Pandemic as well as assess the overall
impact on the Group’s business in the coming year, and
accordingly evaluates the impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group. Also, the management of the
Group monitors any changes to regulations and instructions in
compliance with industrial safety and public health policies; and
deploys appropriate preventive measures to enhance protection
of the Group’'s employees by providing healthy and hygienic
environment both in the office and at the construction sites.

4 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020/2021

BUURR :
AANERREBEIERBRARTAEAR IR
HWBELR [A&EEE=(EE) 2

([BEEE)MARBER(TRER|IZEAREE
HE2021E3A31A L FENEERS -

MBRREE

NEBWZHZHAEE202063831HILFELD
120408 BB T TAEHE2021F3H31H
IFFEH1,103.2BE BT - KIEZ100.88
BT A8.4% - BIE20215F3A31H IEF
B ERFBEABGER28ES T
BE E2020F3A31H EFE R A 431.38
BB -

RE

2020F FHIBREMFHAEATRBESHRE
([EEDNSEERFEEBRYE  THEES
ITEBRE - BB RMNEEPELE R
SEMNEBENTAFE  SHAEETH
R EMERE TEEEBEELTE -
FAREEEZE2021F3A318 L FEHU
Tk o AT - ANEBE RV BEEERE
BB BRI M R TR IR AT BN R TT - A&
EEREBNRTFEHESZBTHERE - WiT
MRBEHAEENEBNEETE - Wit
TEESRAEBRFERARKROTZE - It
O AEEEEREINET AR RIS RAER
B LWBFTIELZERARBAEBR I
KEUEE MTEMERE - REREEENRA
ENEETHIRE  UIRREREBNE

=
= o



During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was
successfully awarded a sizeable building construction contract
with contract sum of approximately HK$420 million. Subsequent
to 31 March 2021, the Group was awarded three additional
contracts with an aggregate contract sum of approximately
HK$867.7 million, of which one was awarded from a new
customer. The Group would continue to diversify its customer
base by placing more effort to maintain the Group's reputation,
ensuring projects are completed on time with the highest
quality and implementing various cost-effective measures to
improve its competitiveness. The management of the Group
still remains prudently optimistic about the prospects of the
construction industry in Hong Kong.

In August 2020, the Group established a new subsidiary, namely
RH Studio Limited, for rendering Building Information Modeling
("BIM") services. The Group believes that the BIM services could
differentiate the Group from the Group's competitors, through
providing creative technical solutions to the Group's customers.
As the world economy enters into a period of profound
transformation, the Group would seek evolution through every
avenue. Going forward, the Group plan to invest in building
construction related services that will enhance the Group's
capabilities and provide synergies to the existing business of
the Group while the Group strives to maintain the high quality
and workmanship which the Group has been delivering to its
customers.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to our Shareholders, customers, subcontractors and suppliers
for their continuous confidence and support. | would also like
to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to our
management and staff members for their hard work and loyalty
to the Group.

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERBHRR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a long-established main contractor in Hong
Kong and principally engaged in the provision of (i) building
construction services and (ii) repair, maintenance, alteration and
addition (“RMAA") works services. The Group provides building
construction services to customers in both the private and
public sectors. The building construction services provided by
the Group primarily consist of building works for new buildings,
including residential, commercial and industrial buildings, while
the Group’s RMAA works services include the general upkeep,
maintenance, improvement, refurbishment, alteration and
addition of existing facilities and components of buildings and
their surroundings.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had nine major projects on
hand with an awarded contract sum of HK$10.0 million or
above, which includes projects in progress and projects that are
yet to commence. In addition, subsequent to 31 March 2021,
the Group secured three additional new major projects with an
awarded contract sum of HK$10.0 million or above.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had
completed three major projects with an awarded contract sum
of HK$10.0 million or above.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain risks relating to the Group's operations which
could harm the Group's business, financial condition and
operating results. Some of the relatively material risks relating
to the Group are summarised as follows:

()  The Group’s business and operation may be affected by
the Pandemic or other public health incident, which may
cause lockdown, travel restrictions and suspension of work
in Hong Kong or elsewhere.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

the Group’s revenue relies on the Group’s contracts being
awarded through tendering or quotation processes which
are not recurrent in nature. There is no guarantee on the
Group's continual success in project tenders or quotation
and the Group's sustainability and financial performance
may be materially and adversely affected;

the Group is exposed to concentration risk of heavy
reliance on the Group's largest and major customers;

the Group relies on the Group's subcontractors to perform
generally most of the works of the Group's projects;
any fluctuations in subcontracting costs, unsatisfactory
performance or unavailability of the Group's subcontractors
may materially and adversely affect the Group's operations
and profitability;

the Group may suffer from cash flow shortcomings due to
mismatch in time between receipt of progress payments
from our customers, and payments to our suppliers and
subcontractors;

changes in the prices and availability of raw materials
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s operating
results; and

the Group provides performance bonds in the course of the
Group's business operations which could affect the Group's
liquidity position.

For detailed discussion of the risk factors, please refer to

the

section headed “Risk Factors” in the prospectus of the

Company dated 30 January 2019 (the “Prospectus”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's reportable and operating segments are (i) building
construction services and (i) RMAA works services. Details of
the segmental information of the Group is disclosed in Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$100.8 million or approximately 8.4% from approximately
HK$1,204.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$1,103.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2021.

(i) Building Construction Services

The revenue generated from the building construction
services slightly increased by approximately HK$22.9 million
or approximately 2.4% from approximately HK$968.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$990.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, which
was mainly due to the increase in revenue generated from a
sizable project which was partially offset by the decrease in
revenue due to practical completion of two sizable projects
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

(ii) RMAA Works Services

The revenue generated from the RMAA works services
decreased by approximately HK$123.7 million or
approximately 52.4% from approximately HK$236.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$112.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021, which
was mainly due to the decrease in revenue generated from
a sizable project during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$51.6 million or approximately 4.7% from approximately
HK$1,099.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$1,047.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2021. Such decrease was mainly driven by the corresponding
decrease in revenue. The Group's cost of sales primarily
consisted of subcontracting costs, material costs, direct staff
costs and site overhead.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$49.2 million or approximately 47.0% from approximately
HK$104.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$55.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2021. The Group's gross profit margin was approximately
8.7% and 5.0% for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021,
respectively. The gross profit margin of the Group decreased
by approximately 3.7% by comparing that for the year ended
31 March 2020 against the year ended 31 March 2021. The
decrease in gross profit margin was principally due to (i) the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong, which led
to a delay in the delivery of raw materials to the construction
site and progress of certain construction projects, which caused
a drop in revenue of the Group recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2021, and (ii) increase in subcontracting costs.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

(i) Building Construction Services

The gross profit of building construction services was
approximately HK$41.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2021, representing a decrease of approximately HK$34.5
million from approximately HK$76.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 7.8% for the year ended 31 March
2020 to approximately 4.2% for the year ended 31 March
2021. Such decrease was primarily attributable to (i) the
completion of one sizable project, which has a relatively
higher gross profit margin, during the year ended 31 March
2020; and (ii) another sizable project, which has a relatively
lower gross profit margin, achieving significant progress
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

(ii) RMAA Works Services

The gross profit of RMAA works services was approximately
HK$13.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$14.7 million
from approximately HK$28.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. The gross profit margin slightly increased from
approximately 12.1% for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately 12.4% for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Such increase was primarily attributable to the decrease
of site overhead cost of one sizable project, which was
reaching the completion stage during the year ended 31
March 2021.

Other Income and Gains

The other income and gains of the Group increased by
approximately HK$7.4 million or approximately 110.4%, from
approximately HK$6.7 million for year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$14.1 million for year ended 31 March 2021.
The increase was primarily due to the recognition of a non-
recurring government subsidy under the Employment Support
Scheme established by the Government of Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Administrative and Other Operating Expenses, Net

The administrative and other operating expenses, net decreased
by approximately HK$2.1 million or approximately 4.2%, from
approximately HK$50.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2020 to approximately HK$48.5 million for year ended 31
March 2021. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
discretionary bonuses to the executive Directors incurred for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

Finance Costs

The finance costs slightly decreased by approximately HK$0.2
million or approximately 50.0%, from approximately HK$0.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in the interest expense on bank
borrowings.

Income Tax

The income tax decreased by approximately HK$8.3 million
or approximately 83.8%, from approximately HK$9.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$1.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease was
primarily attributable to the decrease in profit generated
from building construction services and RMAA works services
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The effective tax rate was
approximately 16.3% and 7.6% for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2021, respectively. The decrease of the effective tax
rate of approximately 8.7% was mainly due to the one-off non-
taxable item of a non-recurring government subsidy under the
Employment Support Scheme recognised during the year ended
31 March 2021.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

Net Profit

As a result of the foregoing, the net profit for the year of
the Group decreased by approximately HK$31.3 million or
approximately 62.0%, from approximately HK$50.5 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$19.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The net profit margin for
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021 were approximately
4.2% and 1.7%, respectively, representing a decrease of
approximately 2.5%. Such decrease was primarily attributable
to the decline in revenue while the cost of sales decreased to a
lesser extent during the year ended 31 March 2021.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has a total of 185 full-time and
1 part-time employees (as at 31 March 2020: 194 full-time and
2 part-time employees). The Group has developed its human
resources policies and procedures to determine the individual
remuneration with reference to factors such as performance,
qualification, merits, responsibilities of each individual, market
conditions, etc. Remuneration packages are normally reviewed
on a regular basis. Apart from salary payments, other staff
benefits including provident fund contributions, medical
insurance coverage, annual leave and share option and share
award which may be granted to eligible employees. The total
staff costs (excluding Directors’ remuneration) incurred by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 was
approximately HK$90.2 million and HK$89.8 million, respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, other than the
shareholding in the subsidiaries of the Company, there were no
significant investments held by the Company. There were no
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments as at 31 March 2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2021.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has a minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions and assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar. As such, the
Directors believe that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange
is insignificant so the Group is not necessary to arrange any
foreign currency hedging policy and the Group has not entered
into any instrument for hedging purpose.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group
(defined as the lease liabilities divided by total equity), was
approximately 1.7% and 2.6%, respectively.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group has principally funded the liquidity and capital
requirements through capital contributions from the
Shareholders, bank borrowings and net cash generated from
operating activities.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had pledged deposits,
time deposits and cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$167.9 million and HK$172.6 million, respectively. The
gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 (defined
as the lease liabilities divided by total equity) was approximately
1.7% and 2.6%, respectively. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020,
the current ratio of the Group was approximately 2.2 times and
approximately 1.9 times, respectively.

The Group generally finances its operation by internally
generated resources and banking facilities provided by certain
banks in Hong Kong. The Directors believe that the Group have
sufficient working capital for the Group's current commitments
and future requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there has been no
change in the capital structure of the Company.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has no outstanding
bank borrowings. The lease liabilities of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$4.7 million and HK$7.1 million, respectively,
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by (i) the Group's pledged deposits of
approximately HK$42.2 million and HK$31.9 million, respectively;
and (ii) corporate guarantee executed by the Group.

The Group's borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and interests on borrowings were mainly charged at
floating rate. The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy while the Group pays vigilant attention to
and monitors interest rate risks continuously and cautiously.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the” Stock Exchange”) on 27 February 2019 (the
“Listing Date"). The net proceeds from the share offer (the “Net
Proceeds”), after deducting related underwriting commission
and listing expenses, of approximately HK$93.5 million were
and will be utilised in accordance with the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

The Net Proceeds were utilised during the year ended 31 March
2021 as follows:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D
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more building construction and RMAA KERBETIREERNEN TER
works projects in Hong Kong
Strengthen the manpower MEAT 144 47 68 31 March 2022
2022538318
Upgrade and renovation of office BAEARRET 36 038 1.1 30 June 2022
202256A308
Develop engineering and RaH TR R 29 - 04 31 March 2022
technological innovation 02253R31A
General working capital —REEED 59 - - NA
TER
935 243 8.3
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

From the Listing Date to 31 March 2021, the Group has not
yet utilised the Net Proceeds allocated during the year ended
31 March 2021 for strengthening manpower, upgrading and
renovating office and developing engineering and technological
innovation. The delay in utilisation of the Net Proceeds in
the abovementioned areas were due to (i) the difficulty in
recruiting suitable candidates for the positions which were
created as planned; and (ii) the delay in development of the
Group's technological innovation. The Group plans to utilise the
remaining balance of the Net Proceeds allocated for the year
ended 31 March 2021 during the coming year ending 31 March
2022.

The Group will continue to apply the Net Proceeds in
accordance to the disclosure in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was not
subject to any material environmental claims, lawsuits, penalty,
administrative or disciplinary actions. For further information
in relation to the environmental policies and performance of
the Group, please refer to the "Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” prepared according to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

'

ERELSRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
the highest standard of corporate governance as the Board
recognises the importance of sound corporate governance
to the long term and continuing success of the Group. The
corporate governance principles of the Group emphasise
transparency, accountability and independence. The Board
commits to continuously review and enhance the Group's
corporate governance practices and procedures for the best
interest of the Company’s Shareholders.

Pursuant to paragraph 34 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules,
the Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of
this report, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except the
deviation mentioned in the below section of “Chairman and
Chief Executive”.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman (the
“Chairman”) and chief executive officer (the “"CEQ") should be
separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, Mr.
Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”) has been the Chairman of the
Board and the CEO of the Company. Given the nature and
extent of the Group's operations and Mr. KY Tsang's in-depth
knowledge and experience in the industry in which the Group
operates and his familiarity with the operations of the Group,
the Board believes that it is most beneficial to the Group and
the Shareholders as a whole to have Mr. KY Tsang acting as the
Chairman of the Board and CEO of the Company at the same
time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the model code for securities
transactions by directors of listed issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries to each of the Directors
and all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets
and supervision of management performance.

Composition

The Board comprises a total of six directors, with three
executive Directors (the "EDs”) and three independent non-
executive Directors (the “INEDs"”). Board members are listed
below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip

Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel

Dr. Lau Chi Keung

Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond
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In compliance with the requirements set out in Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules, the Board consists of three INEDs during
the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise one-third
of the Board, and one of them, namely Mr. Sze Kwok Wing
Nigel, possesses of appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. During
the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report,
the number of INEDs represents at least one-third of the Board
which is in compliance with Rule 3.10A. As such, the Company
believes that there is a sufficient independence element in the
Board to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has entered into a letter of appointment with
each of the INEDs. The commencement date of each of the
letter of appointment is 27 February 2019, the date of the
Listing, for a term of three years. Each of the INEDs has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every 3 years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. As such, Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip as an executive
Director and Dr. Lau Chi Keung as an independent non-
executive Director, will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Saved as disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in this report, there is
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.
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Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of individual members of the Board at various
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2021, as well as the
number of such meetings held, and the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 21 August 2020 are set out below:

ERRHEERR

REE2021F3A3NBLFE  EEEKE
HEESRRBEERRITRE  UEAR
AIN2020F8 A21HE T2 RRBAF RKEH
HEIBREINNT -

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/ BTEENRE
Audit Nomination Remuneration 2020
Board Committee Committee Committee Annual General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
gxg ENEES REZES FHzEg 2020
e E a3 28 RREFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip @ WRELLO 5/5 N/A @A il 2/2 11
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip o EE 55  NATER  NATER  NATER 11
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry LR A 5/5 N/A T N/A TE N/A TiE 171
Independent Non-Executive BIUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel @ MR EE 5/5 4/4 il 2/2 11
Dr. Lau Chi Keung © BlEaELe 5/5 4/4 171 N/A T3 F 171
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond © N el 5/5 4/4 N/A TEA 2/2 il
1. Chairman of the Board 1 BExglF
2. Chairman of the Audit Committee 2 BREERERE
T Chimon ofthe Remunersion Commiee i Gheaeie

INEDs’ meeting with the Chairman

In compliance with the code provision A.2.7 of the CG code, the
Chairman of the Board should at least annually hold a meeting
with the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) without the
presence of the other Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the INEDs had a
meeting with the Chairman of the Board without the presence
of other executive Directors. In addition, the INEDs could also
communicate directly at any time through other means (such as
telephone or email) to give their opinions and share their views
on the Company's affairs.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skill
to ensure that they obtain the updated and relevant information
regarding to the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Company arranged a training session provided by our Hong
Kong legal adviser to all the Directors as continuing professional
trainings. The training covered topics relating to the Listing
Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) pursuant to requirement of the CG Code. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a wide range of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on
ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the
Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights
and challenge that enable the Board to discharge its duties
and responsibilities effectively, support good decision making
in view of the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and
support succession planning and development of the Board. For
achieving an optimal Board, additional measurable objectives
and specific diversity targets may be set and reviewed from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness.
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Selection of director candidates will be based on the Company’s
nomination policy and will take into account this policy. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having
due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and also
the needs of the Board without focusing on a single diversity
aspect.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing
the Board to gender parity. The Board also aspires to having an
appropriate proportion of directors who have direct experience
in the Group's core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds,
and reflecting the Group's strategy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees
in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules for assisting the
Board to oversee specific aspects of the Company's affairs and
helping it in the execution of its responsibilities. Specific written
terms of reference of these committees clearly outline the
committees’ authority and duties, which require the committees
to report back on their decisions and recommendations to the
Board. Currently, three committees have been established,
i.e. the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”).
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 21
January 2019 with specific written terms of reference which
clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining
the relationship with the Company's auditor; (b) reviewing
the Company's financial information; (c) overseeing the
Company's financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems; and (d) overseeing the Company's
continuing connected transactions. The full version of the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock
Exchange's website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company's

website at “www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Audit Committee is made up of three INEDs including Mr.
Sze Kwok Wing Nigel (Chairman), Dr. Lau Chi Keung and Mr.
Chan Tim Yiu Raymond.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee
held four committee meetings; and had, among others,

performed the following work:

() held two meetings with an external auditor to discuss and
review the annual results, the annual financial report for
the year ended 31 March 2020 and the interim results,
the interim financial report for the six months ended 30
September 2020 and recommended the same to the Board
for approval,

(i) held two meetings with an external independent internal
control adviser to discuss and review the Group's risk

and the

effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function;

management and internal control systems,

(iii) held a telephone conference call with an external auditor
to discuss the pre-audit planning and the statutory audit
scope of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021; and

(iv) made recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of external auditor and give recommendations
on its remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on
21 January 2019 with specific written terms of reference which
clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for (a)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement of the Company’s corporate strategy;
(b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated of directorships;
(c) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for
Directors in particular the Chairman of the Board and the CEOQ,;
and (d) assessing the independence of the INEDs and reviewing
the INEDs' annual confirmations on their independence and
making the disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report. The full version of the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee is available on the Stock Exchange's
website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company’s website at

www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Nomination Committee is made up of three members
including Dr. Lau Chi Keung (Chairman), Mr. Sze Kwok Wing
Nigel and Mr. Tsang Ka Yip.

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The duties performed by
the Nomination Committee were to review and consider the
composition and diversity of the Board, appointment and
re-appointment of the Directors, annual independence of
INEDs, assessed the INEDs' independence according to the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
review the succession planning for Directors and the existing
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee.
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Nomination criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship,

the following criteria should be considered by the Nomination

Committee:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

the candidate’s character and integrity;

the candidate’s qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

for independent non-executive Directors, whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability of the candidate to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company; and

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

The Company has put in place the following director nomination

procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

(i)

(i)

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for
identifying suitable director candidates, including referral
from Directors, Shareholders, management, advisors of the
Company and external executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the relevant Nomination Committee will
shortlist candidates for consideration by the Nomination
Committee/Board based on the selection criteria and such
other factors that it considers appropriate. The Board
has the final authority on determining suitable director
candidate for appointment.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i

(ii)

26

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election, the Board shall consider and, if consider
appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand for
re-election at a general meeting. A circular containing the
requisite information on such retiring Director will be sent
to Shareholders prior to a general meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Any Shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate
a person to stand for election as a Director at a general
meeting must lodge with the company secretary of the
Company within the lodgement period specified in the
relevant shareholder circular (a) a written nomination of the
candidate, (b) written confirmation from such nominated
candidate of his willingness to stand for election, and
(c) biographical details of such nominated candidate
as required under the Listing Rules. Particulars of the
candidate so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for
information by a supplementary circular.

WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020/2021

REREF

ZAN/N

AR EE MIEFRERARRF

ZEFRBERES

(i)

(i)

(ii)

NEZERTFERIIEBERES -
& A2 ERENER A ENESRE
A BHREE KRR BEE - Q78
A M INER IR SR R RO HERE

/

He

)

HEEREAREETHRELEGHR -
AR R B SR RBEFERRER
REENEMAEER - HIREATIARS
ZEe BEEENREALE  AHE
B EXSARKBENRAEABENES
NEARRE -

EERKRRESR
MREEENAERYMEBERET
EEAEELR(NRR/EE ) EEZZE
REEFERRAS LEEET - HA
ZHEREEEMTENNBERMRE
MARARBERAG AT E TRR -

AR BUERIBER AN AR IR B Al AR IRER A
SL2RES  RVAERBREEK
FrEAER BIERA R RN A RWE
ER(@)FBIREANEHEHRES - b)Z
ERAZIEARVBMELENEEHER
Ke(c) ETARRIFTAR E R IR B IRIEA
BBEFIE - BRARE A FIEAS AR
FBHHTEABEXTARR



Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established
on 21 January 2019 with specific written terms of reference
which clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors, the senior management
of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
(b) determining, making recommendations to the Board,
considering and approving the remuneration package of
individual executive Directors and senior management and the
compensation arrangements relating to loss or termination of
office or appointment; and (c) reviewing and approving the
management's remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives. The full version of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available
on the Stock Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the
Company's website at “www.wecon.com.hk”. The Remuneration
Committee ensures that none of the Directors or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of three members
including Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond (Chairman), Mr. Tsang Ka
Yip and Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel.

The Remuneration Committee held two committee meetings
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The duties performed
by the Remuneration Committee were to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and member of the senior
management, as well as the remuneration of the INEDs
and such that no individual Director would decide his own

remuneration level.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration in the Group and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Senior management’s remuneration

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration paid to the members of the senior management
by band during the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

SR EERENH M

RIEZEE SR ST IS EB. 1.5
REE2021F3831BILFE SN TEH&
EREEBIRBEE MFIOT ¢

Number of person(s)

FroNgaE (8 T) AE
Nil to 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000 5
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 1

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration paid or
payable to the external auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young,
in respect of the audit and non-audit services were as follows:

18 M 1% B B 5 B

REE2021F3A31H ILFE - siixHBNIE
ZEURTS B sk B T AR B IR BRET 22
KEETRIEEATAE BT -

Remuneration

Services rendered paid/payable
ERMR® B H
HK$’'000
FHET
Audit services HitiR

— Annual audit services —FEETRG 1,250

Non-audit services B AR
— Others —Hf 210
1,460

28 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020/2021



DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has on 21 January 2019 adopted a divided policy

(the “Dividend Policy”), and the summary of which is set out

below:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into

account, inter aliai—

—
&

the general financial condition of the Group;

T

capital and debt level of the Group;

—
(g)
-~

future cash requirements and availability for business

operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group's lenders;

(e) the general market conditions; and

(f) any other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act
(2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company. Any final dividends declared
by the Company must be approved by an ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general
meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended
by the Board. The Board may from time to time pay to the
Shareholders such interim and/or special dividends, in cash
or in kind, as it considers to be justified by the profits of
the Group.

The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the
Shareholders’ interests and prudent capital management
with a sustainable Dividend Policy. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

Details of dividends are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements affairs of the Group.

The statement of the auditor, Ernst & Young, about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 112 to 120 of
this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to any events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the Board by ensuring the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is also responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters.

Ms. Tsang Lee Mei (“Ms. Tsang”), the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), who was prior to
her resignation a full-time employee of the Company. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, Ms. Tsang confirmed that she
complied with training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. Ms. Tsang resigned as the Company Secretary
with effect from 11 April 2021.

Mr. Tang Siu Fung Calvin (“Mr. Tang”) has been appointed as
the Company Secretary on 11 April 2021. Mr. Tang meets the
qualification requirements for company secretary under Rule
3.28 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Tang is a partner of Hexacubic
Consulting Limited, which provides corporate governance
consulting services to the Company. Although Mr. Tang is not
an employee of the Company, he reports to the Chairman and
advices the Board on governance matters. The Company has
assigned Ms. Lee Ching Ha, financial controller, as its primary
corporate contact person whom Mr. Tang can contact.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(1)

@

General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide a good
opportunity for communication between the Shareholders
of the Company and the Board. An annual general meeting
of the Company shall be held in each year and at such time
and place to be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
is scheduled to be held on Friday, 20 August 2021 (the
“2021 AGM"). A circular and a notice of the 2021 AGM
containing, among other matters, further information and
notice relating to the 2021 AGM will be despatched to
the Shareholders of the Company in accordance with the
Articles, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and
regulations.

The way in which Shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit to call an EGM. Any one or more
Shareholders holding on the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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(4)

32

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless
a notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office provided that the minimum length of the
period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at
least seven (7) days and that (if the notices are submitted
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election) the period for lodgment
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior
to the date of such general meeting.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Any Shareholder(s) of the Company who wish to raise his/
her/their enquiries concerning the Company to the Board
may deliver his/her/their written enquiry(ies) to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 18/F.,
Tung Hip Commercial Building, 244 — 252 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Chairman of
the Board and the Company Secretary. Upon receipt of the
enquiries, the Company would reply as soon as possible.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders communication policy
with the objective of ensuring timely, transparent and accurate
communications between the Shareholders and the Company.

The Company has established several ways to communicate
with the Shareholders as follows:

(1) the annual general meetings and other general meetings
of the Company are the primary communication forum
between the Company and the Shareholders. The Board
members, appropriate senior executives and external
auditor will attend the general meetings to answer the
Shareholders’ questions;

(2) the corporate communications such as (i) annual reports, (ii)
interim reports, (iii) notices of meeting, (iv) circulars and
(v) forms of proxy are available on the Stock Exchange's
website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company’s website
at “www.wecon.com.hk”:

(3) periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange's website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the
Company’s website at “www.wecon.com.hk”;

(4) the Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch
share registrar of the Company, serves the Shareholders in
respect of share registration, dividend payment and related
matters; and

(5) the corporate information is made available from time to
time on the Company’s website at “www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Company is committed to maintain effective and timely
dissemination of the Group's information to Shareholders and
potential investors. Any enquiries to the Board or the Company
may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report, there was no changes in the Company’s
memorandum of association and the Articles.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board undertakes to periodically review the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group to ensure their
effectiveness and efficiency and is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control system of the Group. The Directors
believe that effectiveness of the internal control system can
avoid or reduce the risks which can cause loss or reputational
damage to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group engaged
an external independent internal control adviser to review
the internal control mechanisms and carry out internal audit
function. The scope of work includes identify, monitor and
manage the key risks area associated with the business activities
in relation to the operational matters/practices of the Group.
The adviser provided their findings and recommendations for
improvement and issued the internal control review report to
the Audit Committee for their considering and reviewing.

The Audit Committee conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewed the internal control review
report and considered that the risk management and internal
control system of the Group are effective and adequate. The
review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group would be conducted by the Audit
Committee on an annual basis.

With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of insider information, the Group has a strict
prohibition on the unauthorised use of confidential or insider
information in the staff handbook.

The Company had previously arranged a training session on
the topic of inside information disclosure which is provided
by our Hong Kong legal adviser to all Directors as continuing
professional trainings in order to enhance the corporate
governance of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

'

EEREREEBMEREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”), aged 68, was appointed
as our Director on 23 March 2018 and was redesignated as
our executive Director on 23 January 2019. Mr. KY Tsang is
the chairman and chief executive officer of our Group, and a
managing director of all our subsidiaries. He is responsible for
the overall strategic planning and business development as well
as executing the overall operation of our Group.

Mr. KY Tsang has over 42 years of experience in civil
engineering, building and construction industry. Prior to
founding our Group, Mr. KY Tsang worked as a project manager
in various construction contractors in Hong Kong, where he
commenced his career in the engineering and construction
industry. From July 1974 to August 1978, Mr. KY Tsang worked
in Wong & Ouyang & Associates Architects and Engineers Hong
Kong in contract section and was mainly responsible for contract
administration, preparation of tender specification and tender
documents. From August 1978 to October 1979, Mr. KY Tsang
worked in T.K. Shen Construction Co. as a project manager and
was mainly responsible for project supervision and liaising with
clients. From October 1979 to February 1982, Mr. KY Tsang
worked in Leon Eng. & Const. Co. Ltd. as a project manager;,
and was subsequently promoted to executive director and was
mainly responsible for project supervision. Mr. KY Tsang worked
in Hing Lee Construction Co., Ltd as contract manager from
March 1982 to February 1984 and was mainly responsible for
contract administration, project management, site personnel
management, preparation of building estimates and all works in
connection with tender documents.

Mr. KY Tsang obtained Certificate of Land Surveying and
Higher Certificate of Building Technology from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic in July 1973 and November 1975 respectively. Mr.
KY Tsang also obtained an Industrial Management Diploma
from Institution of Industrial Managers in August 1983. In
March 2017, Mr. KY Tsang also received a Master's Degree
for Engineering Management from University of Technology,
Sydney. Since October 2017, Mr. KY Tsang has been admitted
as fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Construction Manager. Mr.
KY Tsang is one of the controlling shareholders, and the father
of Mr. Philip Tsang and Mr. Jerry Tsang.
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Mr. KY Tsang was as a member of the Registered Contractors’
Disciplinary Board Panel by the Housing, Planning and Lands
Bureau from 1999 to 2005. From 2007 to 2009, Mr. KY Tsang
had also been appointed as the Vice Chairman of Building
Committee of The Hong Kong Construction Association. From
2008 to 2009, Mr. KY Tsang served as the President of Rotary
Club of Hong Kong Northwest. In 2013 to 2015, Mr. KY Tsang
assumed the office of a Board Director of Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals. Since April 2017, Mr. KY Tsang was admitted
as Council Member of Hong Kong Construction Association.
Since April 2017, Mr. KY Tsang has become the Vice Chairman
of the Small & Medium Enterprise Committee of Hong Kong
Construction Association. Since November 2016, Mr. KY Tsang
held the post of an independent manager of the Incorporated
Management Committee by TWGHs Tsui Tsin Tong School.

Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip (“Mr. Philip Tsang”), aged 39, was
appointed as the deputy director of Wecon Limited in August
2012. He was appointed as our Director on 25 June 2018 and
was re-designated as our executive Director on 23 January
2019. He is responsible for the overall construction projects
management and daily operation of our Group.

Mr. Philip Tsang joined our Group in November 2008 as a
project coordinator of Wecon Limited before he left our Group
in May 2010. Mr. Philip Tsang has returned to our Group since
August 2012 as deputy director of Wecon Limited. Mr. Philip
Tsang studied from Santa Monica College from year of 2000 to
2002 without obtaining accredited certificates. Mr. Philip Tsang
is the son of Mr. KY Tsang and the elder brother of Mr. Jerry
Tsang.
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Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry (“Mr. Jerry Tsang”), aged 34, was
appointed as our Director on 25 June 2018 and was re-
designated as executive Director on 23 January 2019. He is
responsible for the overall administrative, information system,
financial and human resources planning of our Group.

Mr. Jerry Tsang joined our Group in March 2010 as an
investment executive of Wecon Limited. Mr. Jerry Tsang
obtained the Diploma of Commerce from Melbourne Institute
of Business and Technology in March 2008 and received a
degree of Bachelor of Arts (Business Enterprise) from University
of Birmingham in September 2013. Mr. Jerry Tsang is the son of
Mr. KY Tsang and the younger brother of Mr. Philip Tsang.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond (“Mr. Chan”), aged 62, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
21 January 2019. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent advice to our Board.

As a practicing solicitor, Mr. Chan has over 35 years of
experience in the legal profession. Mr. Chan was awarded the
Bachelor of Laws from University of Birmingham in July 1982
and passed the Solicitors’ Final Examination organised by The
Law Society of England and Wales in November 1983. Mr. Chan
then joined Johnson Stokes & Master (currently known as Mayer
Brown) as a trainee solicitor and was subsequently promoted
as an assistant solicitor and a partner before he left the firm
in 1995. In 1996, Mr. Chan formed the practice Raymond T.Y.
Chan, Victoria Chan & Co. and has been a partner since then.

Mr. Chan was admitted as a solicitor of Hong Kong in 1985 and
admitted as a solicitor of England and Wales and a barrister
and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Australia Capital Territory
in April 1989 and August 1990, respectively. In August 1990, he
was also admitted as an advocate and solicitor of Singapore.
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Dr. Lau Chi Keung (“Dr. Lau”), aged 66, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2019. He
is primarily responsible for providing independent advice to
our Board. He is currently a director of Fong On Construction
Limited, Fong On Geotechnics Limited, Po Shing Construction
Limited, James Lau & Associates Limited and the executive
director and chief executive officer of Ri Ying Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Shing Chi Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
17417).

Dr. Lau has over 42 years of experience in engineering. Dr.
Lau worked as a graduate engineer in Ho Chung, Wallace
Evans & Company Limited in August 1978 with his last position
held as an engineer in 1984. He was then employed by WS
Atkins (Services) Limited as a group engineer with his last
position held as a senior group engineer and head of the soil-
structure interaction group from May 1988 to August 1994. Dr.
Lau worked as an adjunct professor at The City University of
Hong Kong from June 2006 to June 2012 and The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University from April 2002 to March 2005. He has
re-joined The Hong Kong Polytechnic University as an adjunct
professor since March 2016. In recognition of his valuable
experience and knowledge in the civil and environmental
engineering industry, Dr. Lau is invited to be an adjunct
professor in the Department of Civil and Environmental, The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology from April
2020 to March 2023.
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Dr. Lau was admitted to memberships of the following
institutions and bodies:

Name of institution Membership grade
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I LR RS A TR MBS

Month and year of approval
of membership grade

HEEE R SERBINMZERR BB
The Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators Fellow May 2018

BEMEFSEE EXREE 2018457

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators Member January 2005
BHFHERIEE 28 200541 A

The Hong Kong University of Science

Honorary Fellow
and Technology

BEHERRKRE RERL

The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers Member/Fellow
E R g8 /BAXg8
The Institution of Structural Engineers Member
EEIIRANEE g8

The Institution of Civil Engineers Member
TARTIZMES g8

November 2002

2002411 A

August 1983/June 1999
1983484, 19996 A
November 1982
1982114

December 1982
19824124

Dr. Lau has been a registered professional engineer (civil,
structural, and geotechnical) of Hong Kong Engineers
Registration Board since October 1997. He has also been a
registered structural engineer, an authorised person (list of
engineers), a registered geotechnical engineer and a registered
inspector under the Buildings Ordinance since August 1997,
April 1998, May 2005 and November 2012, respectively. Dr. Lau
has also been a first class registered structural engineer of the
National Administration Board of Architectural Registration of
the PRC since June 2000. Dr.

and mediator of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,

Lau has also been an arbitrator

an accredited general mediator of Hong Kong Mediation
Accreditation Association Limited and appointed as an
accredited adjudicator of Hong Kong International Arbitration
Centre since April 2005, July 2017 and 2015, respectively.

In July 1978, Dr. Lau received the Bachelor of Science (Civil &
Structural Engineering) from University College Cardiff (currently
known as Cardiff University). In December 1985 and May 1989,
Dr. Lau further obtained a Master’s Degree and a Doctorate
Degree in soil mechanics at the University of Cambridge.

2L B1997F10A £ REE TIZADE M
EERMEMEXTIRM(LA  EBLE

+ ) B199748A ~ 199854 F - 200545 A
T20124F 11 A - 18 I8 BUAK & 3= S 901640

HNZ MR TIZA - TRRAZERATA
T gAMELIRMAEREIMBRBAE - 8
20005F6 A - I A Bl 2 B2
MERE SR —REMERE TR -
BH2005F4 A ~ 201747 7 &2015%F #E - 2|
%i“%uﬁ%é;‘%lﬁﬁﬁi%@ﬁ:ﬁé&%ﬂﬁﬁ
- BARFARERTEHEERAF 2R

%V%\? REWERT AT BB HPEF LR

o

‘D]]

g| 2
B
P
il

R1978F7 8 - B TES AKX B (R
BMOWAREB) TARSERIIRBESS L&
iz o 71985512 A K 19894F5A8 » ZliE L+ 5
FlE—FIERBEABLENSELREL

Bfy o

BIZRERAT  4FiR2020/2021 39



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREERNERERTE

Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel (“Mr. Sze"), aged 64, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2019.
He is primarily responsible for providing independent advice to
our Board. He is currently a director of J&J Investments Limited
and an independent non-executive director of Pacific Textiles
Holdings Limited, which is a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock
Code: 1382).

Mr. Sze has over 40 years of experience in business and
administrative management. Mr. Sze worked as an internal
auditor in Ford Motor Company from 1980 to 1982. From 1982
to 1985, he worked as an assistant finance manager in National
Mutual. He then joined CITIBANK N.A. as a group financial
controller (private banking, Asia Pacific) from 1986 to 1989
and was subsequently promoted as business head marketing
(island central zone — Hong Kong) before he left CITIBANK N.A.
in 1993. From 1993 to 1995, he worked as a head of private
banking (Hong Kong booking centre) at American Express
Bank. He then joined Morgan Stanley Asia Ltd as an executive
director (private client sales department — Hong Kong & Taiwan)
from 1995 to 2001. From 2001 to 2007, he worked as a chief
executive officer (global wealth management, private banking,
Asia Pacific) at Barclays Bank Plc. From 2007 to 2009, he re-
joined CITIBANK N.A. as an investment and product head
(global wealth management, Asia Pacific). He then jointed EFG
International Group as a deputy chief executive officer (EFG
Bank, Asia Pacific) in 2009 and was subsequently promoted as
a chief executive officer (EFG Asset Management, Asia Pacific)
before he left the group in 2013. From 2014 to 2015, he joined
Julius Baer as a managing director and country head (China and
Hong Kong).

Mr. Sze has been admitted as a fellow of CPA Australia since
January 2007 and was licensed as a responsible officer for
conducting type 9 regulated activities by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong since September 2017.

In May 1980, Mr. Sze received the Bachelor of Business Studies
from Swinburne University (formerly known as Swinburne
College of Technology), Australia. In August 2007, he obtained
a Master’s Degree in Business from University of Newcastle,
Australia.
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Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors had not held
any directorship in the last three years in any public company
the securities of which is listed on any securities market in Hong
Kong or overseas.

Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors confirms with
respect to him that: (a) he did not hold other positions in our
Company or other members of our Group as at the Reporting
Date; (b) he did not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder of our Company as at the Reporting
Date; (c) he does not have any interests in our Shares within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, save as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Report of the Directors — Disclosure of
Interests” in this report; (d) he does not have any interest in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with us, which is discloseable under the Listing Rules;
and (e) to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of
our Directors having made all reasonable enquiries, there was
no additional information relating to our Directors or senior
management that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and no other matter with respect to
their appointments that needs to be brought to the attention of
our Shareholders as at the 31 March 2021.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu Wing Lun Allan (“Mr. Wu"), aged 43, is the project
manager of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Group. He joined our Group in November
2007 and is mainly responsible for the management and
administration of different projects in our Group.

Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in civil engineering,
building and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Wu mainly worked as structural engineer and project
manager in various structural consulting firms and construction
contractors in Hong Kong, where he commenced his career
in the engineering and construction industry. From 2000 to
2001, Mr. Wu worked in Shun Shing Construction Co. Ltd. as
an assistant site engineer. From 2001 to 2004, Mr. Wu worked
in Canwest Consultants (International) Ltd. as an engineer; and
from 2004 to 2007, Mr. Wu worked in Realfit Engineering Ltd.
as an assistant project manager and was mainly responsible for
assisting the project manager in monitoring project operations,
planning and site coordinating work.

Mr. Wu obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from McMaster
University Canada in November 2000 and a Certificate of
Engineering Graduate Training Scheme from Vocational
Training Council of Hong Kong in January 2003. Mr. Wu has also
obtained a Master's Degree in Civil Infrastructure Engineering
and Management from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 2004. In November 2014, Mr.
Wu was admitted as the Authorised Signatory by the Register
of General Building Contractors in Buildings Department. In
September 2015, Mr. Wu was admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers. Mr. Wu has also
obtained a Certificate of Building Environmental Assessment
Method Professional (New Buildings) from Hong Kong Green
Building Council in May 2017.
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Ms. Hui Pik Yuet (“Ms. Hui"), aged 48, is the Head of human
resources and administration of Wecon Limited and a member
of the senior management of our Group. She joined our Group
in January 2015 and is mainly responsible for administrative and
human resources matters of our Group.

Ms. Hui has over 23 years of experience in business
administration, human resources and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Hui mainly worked as
human resources officer and manager in various companies
in Hong Kong, where she started her career in the human
resources and administration industry. From 1998 to 1999, Ms.
Hui worked in Pruton Prudential Hotel as personnel and training
assistant. From 1999 to 2002, Ms. Hui worked in China Harbour
Engineering Company (Group) Limited as a human resources
officer. From 2002 to 2003, Ms. Hui worked in WorldCard (Hong
Kong) Limited as administration and marketing executive; from
2003 to 2005, Ms. Hui worked in Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited
as a human resources officer; and from June 2005 to April
2008, Ms. Hui worked in China Resources Insurance Consultants
Limited as human resources and administration manager;
from April 2008 to December 2014, Ms. Hui was subsequently
transferred to China Resources Investment Enterprise Ltd. as
human resources and administration manager and was then
worked to the personnel and administration department in CRE
Properties (Hong Kong) Ltd. and China Resources Insurance
Consultants Limited as human resources and administration
manager and was mainly responsible for human resources and
administrative matter.

Ms. Hui obtained a Bachelor Degree in Bachelor of Arts from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1997. Ms.
Hui also obtained a Diploma in Management Studies from
Lingnan University/The Hong Kong Management Association in
September 2001.

Mr. Choi Ying Tung (“Mr. Choi”), aged 46, is the safety and
environmental manager of Wecon Limited and a member of
the senior management of our Group. He joined our Group
in August 2007 and is mainly responsible for safety and
environmental management of our Group.
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Mr. Choi has over 23 years of experience in civil engineering,
buildings and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Choi mainly worked as safety officer in various construction
companies in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the
construction industry. From 1997 to 1999, Mr. Choi worked in
Far East Consulting Engineers Ltd. as an assistant engineer.
From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Choi worked in Chevalier (Construction)
Company Ltd as a technical assistant. From 2001 to 2004, Mr.
Choi worked in Hip Hing Construction Co., Ltd as a safety
officer; and from November 2004 to August 2007, Mr. Choi
worked in Union Glory E&M Engineering Ltd. as a project
engineer and safety officer.

Mr. Choi obtained certificate in Hong Kong Advanced Level
Examination in 1995 and a Higher Diploma in Building
Services Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1997. In November 2001, Mr. Choi obtained Post-
experience Certificate in Industrial Safety from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Choi also obtained a Certificate
for the completion of the training in Location of Underground
Electricity Cables from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
July 2004. In February 2005, Mr. Choi completed Safety Auditor
Training Schemes provided by The Hong Kong Productivity
Council and James Safety Consultant Limited. In 2008, Mr.
Choi obtained a Bachelor Degree in Engineering Mechanics,
Materials and Design from the Hong Kong Open University. In
August 2012, Mr. Choi obtained the Professional Certificate in
Environmental Management for Construction (Environmental
officer) from Vacation Training Council.

In March 2011,
Worker (permitted work: BO and HO categories) by Electrical

Mr. Choi was admitted as Registered Electrical

and Mechanical Services Department. Mr. Choi was admitted as
Registered Safety Officer and Registered Safety Auditor by the
Labour Department in August 2002. In August 2012 and January
2009 respectively, Mr. Choi was awarded the Professional
Certificate in Environmental Management of Construction
(Environmental Officer) by the Vocation Training Centre. Mr.
Choi was awarded a certificate of Building Environmental
Assessment Method Professional (New Buildings) since
November 2017 by The Hong Kong Green Building Council.
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Mr. Ho Chi Ming, Wilson (“Mr. Ho"), aged 59, is the Assistant
General Manager of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Group. He joined our Group in March 2017
and is mainly responsible for management and administration of
different projects in our Group.

Mr. Ho has over 36 years of experience in buildings and
construction industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ho mainly
worked as project manager in various construction companies
in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the construction
industry. From 1984 to 1987, Mr. Ho worked in Yeu Shing
Construction Co., Ltd. as a site agent. From 1987 to 1994, Mr.
Ho worked in Yau Lee Construction Co., Ltd as a site agent/
senior quantity surveyor. From 1994 to 1996, Mr. Ho worked
in Hoi Sing Construction Co., Ltd as senior project manager.
From 1996 to 1997, Mr. Ho worked in Wan Chung Construction
Co., Ltd as a senior project manager. From 1997 to 2000, Mr.
Ho worked in Dynasty Building Ltd. as a manager. From 2000
to 2002, Mr. Ho worked in Gammon Skanska Ltd. as a site
agent and from 2002 to February 2017, Mr. Ho worked in Able
Engineering Co., Ltd as a project manager.

In September 2005, Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor Degree of
Applied Science in Construction Management and Economics
from Curtin University of Technology.

In August 2005, Mr. Ho was also admitted as a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building. Mr. Ho was admitted as
Chartered Construction Manager by The Chartered Institute of
Building in September 2014.

Mr. Yee Fei Hung (“Mr. Yee"), aged 42, is the Quality Manager
of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior management of
our Group. He joined our Group in January 2011 and is mainly
responsible for quality assurance and management of our
Group.
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Mr. Yee has over 19 years of experience in engineering,
buildings and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Yee mainly worked as site supervisor in various construction
companies in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the
construction industry. From 2001 to 2008, Mr. Yee worked in
Hsin Chong Construction Group Limited as an assistant site
supervisor. From 2008 to 2009, Mr. Yee worked in B.S.C. Interior
Contract and Engineering Co. Limited as a site supervisor
and from 2009 to 2010, Mr. Yee worked in Shui On Building
Contractors Limited as a site agent.

Mr. Yee obtained a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from
Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in July 2005. In
May 2015, Mr. Yee also obtained a Bachelor of Science (Hons)
in Building Surveying from City University of Birmingham of the
United Kingdom.

Ms. Lee Ching Ha (“Ms. Lee"”), aged 32, is the financial
controller of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Company. She joined our Group in April
2021 as financial controller and is primarily responsible for
financial management and compliance assurance of our Group.

Ms. Lee has over 10 years’ accounting, auditing and financing
experience and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since October 2013. Ms. Lee
obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting
and Finance degree from the University of Hong Kong in
November 2010. Prior to joining the Group, she had worked in
an international accounting firm and was the head of finance
department in a company providing building construction and
civil engineering services in Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, each member of the senior
management of our Group had not held any directorship in
the last three years in other public companies, the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or

overseas.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

'

EFERT

The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is a long established main contractor in Hong Kong
principally engaged in the provision of (i) building construction
services and (i) RMAA in Hong Kong. Details of the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant
to Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) including the description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the section
of “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 4 to 16 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of Directors’ report. Moreover, the details
of the financial risk management of the Group are disclosed in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the
Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 121 to 123 of this
annual report.

The Directors recommended a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per
Share (2020: HK1.9 cents per Share), which amounts to a total
of HK$9.6 million (2020: HK$15.2 million) in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2021, to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members at the close of business on Friday,
27 August 2021. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Company’s Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting scheduled to be held on Friday, 20
August 2021 (the "2021 AGM").
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 84.3%
(2020: approximately 87.7%) of the total revenue of the
Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 62.0% (2020: approximately 34.2%) of the total
revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately
36.6% (2020: approximately 30.8%) of the total subcontracting
cost of the Group and the largest subcontractor of the Group
accounted for approximately 14.4% (2020: approximately 8.2%)
of the total subcontracting cost.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 55.2% (2020:
approximately 80.1%) of the total purchases of construction
materials of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 18.6% (2020: approximately 34.8%)
of the total purchases of construction materials.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company's issued share capital) has any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers or
subcontractors.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS,
SUBCONTRACTORS AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group maintains active relationship with our customers
to explore potential business opportunities and is highly
committed to delivering quality services to our customers on
time.
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Subcontractors and Suppliers

The Group maintains a list of approved subcontractors (based
on their previous experience, skills, present work load, price
quotations and historical work quality) and suppliers (based on
their prices, quality, past performance and capacity).

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of
the Group. The Group intends to adopt the competitive
remuneration, attractive welfare benefits and continuous
professional training to attract and retain appropriate and
suitable personnel to serve the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no material
dispute or disagreement between the Group and its customers,
subcontractors, suppliers and employees.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 212
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations. During the year ended 31
March 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group
in all material aspects has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group and there was no material breach or
non- compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable contributions made by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately HK$143,000
(2020: approximately HK$205,000).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2021 AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on
Friday, 20 August 2021. A notice convening the 2021 AGM will
be issued and despatched to the Shareholders according to the
applicable law, the articles of association of the Company and
the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the Shareholders of the Company
who will be entitled to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM,
the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 17 August 2021 to Friday, 20 August 2021, both dates
inclusive, the period during which no transfer of Shares will be
effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2021
AGM, all completed share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at its office at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 16 August 2021.

Subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the 2021 AGM, to
ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to receiving the final
dividend, the Register of Members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 26 August 2021 to Friday, 27 August
2021, the period during which no transfer of Shares will be
effected. Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
2021 AGM approving the payment of the final dividend, the
final dividend is expected to be paid on Monday, 20 September
2021. In order to qualify for receiving the final dividend, all
completed share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company'’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at the above address not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 25 August 2021.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the authorised share capital and issued
share capital during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out
in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out
in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, in the opinion of the Directors, the
reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders under the Companies Act (2021 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$59.5 million
(2020: approximately HK$77.4 million).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which was approved and adopted by the sole
shareholder of the Company by way of written resolutions
passed on 21 January 2019. No share option has been granted,
exercised, expired, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of this
annual report.

Summary of terms of the Share Option Scheme

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity").
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(b)

52

Who may join

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, be entitled but
shall not be bound at any time within a period of 10 years

commencing from the date of the adoption of the Share

Option Scheme to make an offer to any person belonging

to the following classes:

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including
our Directors (including any non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Director)), any of
our subsidiaries (within the meaning of Companies
Ordinance) or any Invested Entity (an “eligible
employee”);

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant,
individual or entity who in the opinion of our Directors
has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group; and

any other groups or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group,
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and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer
for the grant of an option may be made to any company
wholly-owned by one or more eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities
of the Group to any person who falls within any of the
above classes of eligible participants shall not, by itself,
unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our
Directors from time to time on the basis of our Directors’
opinion as to such eligible participant’s contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

()  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes adopted by the Group if
the grant of such options will result in the limit referred
herein being exceeded.

(i) The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of the share capital of the Company in issue
as at the date on which dealings in the Shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 80,000,000
Shares (“General Scheme Limit").
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(iii)

(iv)

Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iv) below,
the Company may seek approval of our Shareholders
in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme
Limit provided that the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for
the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group) previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group will not be
counted.

Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iii)
above, the Company may seek separate Shareholders’
approval in general meeting to grant options under
the Share Option Scheme beyond the General Scheme
Limit or, if applicable, the extended limit referred to in
(iii) above to eligible participants specifically identified
by the Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (e) below, the total number of Shares issued

and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the

options granted under the Share Option Scheme and

any other share option schemes of the Group (including

both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible

participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option

under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any

12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share

capital of the Company for the time being.
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Where any further grant of options under the Share Option
Scheme to a grantee would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the share capital of the Company in issue,
such further grant shall be separately approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and
his close associates (or his associates if the participant is a
connected person) abstaining from voting.

Grant of options to core connected persons

(i) Without prejudice to (ii) below, the making of an offer
under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates shall be approved
by our independent non-executive Directors (excluding
any independent non-executive Director who is the
proposed grantee of an option under the Share Option
Scheme).

(i) Without prejudice to (i) above, where any grant
of options under the Share Option Scheme to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option
Scheme already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the share
capital of the Company in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares at the offer date of each offer,
in excess of HK$5 million;
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such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee,
his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company shall abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our
Shareholders under paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above,
the Company shall send a circular to our Shareholders
containing the information required under the Listing Rules
and where the Listing Rules shall so require, the vote at the
Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite
approval shall be taken on a poll with those persons
required under the Listing Rules abstaining from voting.

Time of acceptance and exercise of an option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open
for acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and
by no other person) for a period of up to 21 days from the
date, which shall be a business day, on which the offer is
made to the eligible participant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by our Directors to the grantee
thereof, and in the absence of such determination, from
the date of acceptance of the offer of such option to the
earlier of (i) the date on which such option lapses under the
relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (ii) the
date falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant
in respect of all Shares which are offered to such eligible
participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by the eligible participant together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
Such remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.
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Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant
in respect of less than the number of Shares which are
offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a board
lot for dealings in the Shares on Main Board or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly
signed by such eligible participant and received by the
Company together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
Such remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Subscription price for Shares

The subscription price in respect of any option shall,
subject to the adjustments, be at the discretion of our
Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest
of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or
more board lots of the Shares on the offer date;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date;
and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date on which the Share
Option Scheme is adopted, namely 20 January 2029.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Board adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award
Plan”) on 31 July 2020 (the "Adoption Date"”), under which
any employee of the Group and the Invested Entities, who

contributes to the Group or the Invested Entities (the “Eligible

Participants”), will be entitled to participate. The purposes of
the Share Award Plan are:
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to recognise and reward the contribution of the Eligible
Participants to the growth and development of the Group;

ii. to give incentives to the Eligible Participants in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group; and

iii. to attract suitable personnel for further development of
the Group.

The Group has set up a trust (the “Share Award Plan Trust”)
for the purpose of administrating the Share Award Plan. The
Share Award Plan Trust will acquire the Shares from the Stock
Exchange, with a maximum amount of funds to be allocated by
the Board, and hold such Shares until they are vested. Unless
early terminated by the Board, the Share Award Plan shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from
the Adoption Date.

Under the rules constituting the Share Award Plan, the
maximum number of Shares which can be subscribed for and/
or purchased under the Share Award Plan shall not exceed 10%
of the total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date
(i.e. 80,000,000 Shares). The maximum number of Shares which
may be awarded to a Eligible Participant shall not in aggregate
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the Adoption Date. The Board may from time to time, at its
discretion, determine the vesting date(s), any condition(s) or
performance target(s) when granting the share award to the
Eligible Participants.

On 23 December 2020, the Company paid HK$1,000,000 to the
Share Award Plan Trust, and approximately HK$996,000 of which
was used to purchase 5,304,000 Shares, which were as at the
date of this annual report held by the trustee for the benefit of
the Eligible Participants under the Share Awards Plan Trust.

No Share has been granted or vested under the Share Award
Plan since its Adoption Date and up to 31 March 2021.

Further details of the Share Award Plan, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 31 July 2020.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Directors’ Interest in the Company and Associated Corporation

As at 31 March 2021, interests or short positions the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO") which were required (i) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or (iii) pursuant to Model Code contained in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange, were as follows:

(i) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company
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Number of Approximate

Shares held percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature (Long position) shareholding

FrisiRtr R R RERE A

EEE8 a5t MHE (#R) B

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”) Interest in a controlled corporation 600,000,000 75%
BRELE((BERELE]) (Note)

Sy h) A @ (M)

Note: These Shares are held by Triple Arch Limited (“Triple Arch”). Triple Arch is 100%
beneficially owned by Mr. KY Tsang and therefore, Mr. KY Tsang is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares held by Triple Arch under the SFO.

(ii) Long position in ordinary shares of associated corporation

Name of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/Nature

et SR A Triple Arch Limited ([Triple Arch])
58  Triple Archiy & 52 55 4 B 55 1 5 100% 18
0 FMREES RS GG - 8RS AR
A Triple ArchFrit B HERIZE M1 A R o
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Number of Approximate

shares held percentage of
in associated shareholding
corporation in associated

(Long position) corporation

RABEEE AR E @AY
s EE IR A
E=2H B AE R R 510,/ HE (#FR) Bk
Mr. KY Tsang Triple Arch Beneficial owner
BRIEESLE Triple Arch En#EAA 1 100%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares in the Company other
than Director and Chief Executives

BREERESTERAEBUNETERRREL
ARG R

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares held interest in
Name Nature of interest (Long position) the Company
FEROHE AN TERSE
=1 EEME (#FR) BHBEDE
Triple Arch Beneficial owner (Note 1)
Triple Arch BEmia AT 600,000,000 75%
Ms. Lai Yuk Lin, Eliza Interest of spouse (Note 2)
("Ms. Lai")
REELL((Rrt)) Bt (fat2) 600,000,000 75%
Notes: Bt

1. Triple Arch is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. KY Tsang and therefore, Mr. KY Tsang is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by Triple Arch under the
SFO.

2. Ms. Lai is the spouse of Mr. KY Tsang. Therefore, Ms. Lai is deemed to be interested in

the same number of Shares in which Mr. KY Tsang is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, no person,
other than the Directors, whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in the
Company and Associated Corporation” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The controlling shareholders, Mr. Tsang Ka Yip and Triple
Arch Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
had entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of
the Company on 21 January 2019 (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”). Details of the Non-competition Undertaking are
set out in the section headed "Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus. The Controlling Shareholders
had confirmed the state of compliance of the Non-competition
Undertaking and the independent non- executive Directors have
reviewed that state of compliance of each of the controlling
shareholder with the undertakings in the Non-competition
Undertaking and as far as the independent non-executive
Directors can ascertain, there has been no breach of the
undertakings given in the Non-competition Undertaking by the
controlling shareholder during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2021 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel
Dr. Lau Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. As such, Mr. Tsang
Tsz Him Philip as an executive Director and Dr. Lau Chi Keung
as an independent non-executive Director, will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
2021 AGM.

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considered all of its INEDs to be
independent in accordance with the independence criteria as
set out under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors or their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there was no
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group
to which the Company, its holding Company, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or his connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
2021 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remuneration of the Directors was reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee and was determined according to the
qualifications, experience, skills, education background as well
as the contributions which the Director may bring to the Board,
with reference to the prevailing market remuneration level
offered by companies having similar business and size to the
Company, in order to retain and attract high-calibre executives
as the Directors of the Company. The Directors and members of
the senior management may also receive options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and the share award to be
granted under the Share Award Plan.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section of "Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to
46 of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than operating a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, the
Group has not operated any other retirement benefit schemes
for its employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The total retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$3.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately HK$3.7 million).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No connected transactions were entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions were entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 17 to 34 of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Plan, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of its Shares during the year ended 31
March 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float of at least 25% of the
issued share capital of the Company under the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Articles provides that every Director is entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that to the extend permitted by the law such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonestly which may attach to the Director.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers'
liabilities in respect of potential legal actions against the
Directors and officers arising out of corporate activities.
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Environmental policies and performance adopted by the Group
are more particularly set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 66 to 111 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no other significant events occurred after
31 March 2021 and up to the date to this annual report which
requires disclosure.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the 2021 AGM as the auditor of
the Company and a resolution for their reappointment as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2021 AGM.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Wecon Holdings Limited

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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it

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Company is delighted to publish the third Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to summarise
the Group's policies, measures and performance on the
key environmental, social and governance (“ESG") issues in
accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules and Appendix

27 to the Listing Rules.

Reporting Period

The Report illustrates the overall performance of the Group
regarding the environmental and social aspects from 1 April
2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “reporting period” or “2020/2021").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The Report discloses related policies and initiatives for the core
and material businesses of the Company, namely provision of
(i) building construction services; and (ii) repair, maintenance,
alteration and addition (“RMAA") works services in Hong Kong.
There is no significant change in the scope and boundaries of
this Report from that of the ESG report for the year ended 31
March 2020 (“2019/2020").

The Report discloses environmental key performance indicators
("KPIs") and selected social KPls of the corporate office (“office”)
and the representative projects (“project sites”). While the
Report does not cover all of the Group's operations, the Group
aims to upgrade its internal data collection procedure and
gradually expand the scope of the disclosure.

Reporting Basis and Principles

The Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Guide") as set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules and on the basis of the four reporting principles —
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency:

e  “Materiality” Principle:

The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.
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e  “Quantitative” Principle:
Information is presented with quantitative measure,
whenever feasible, including information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions used and provision of

comparative data.

e  “Balance” Principle:
The Report identifies the achievements and challenges
faced by the Group.

e  “Consistency” Principle:
The Report uses consistent methodologies for meaningful

comparisons unless improvements in methodology are
identified.
The Report has complied with all “comply or explain” provisions
and reported on selected recommended disclosures outlined in
the ESG Guide.

The information contained herein is sourced from internal
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as the combined
control, management and operations information provided
by the subsidiaries in accordance with the Group's internal
management systems. A complete content index is appended
to the last section hereof for quick reference. The Report
is prepared and published in both Chinese and English at
the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’'s website (www.wecon.com.hk). In the event of
contradiction or inconsistency between the Chinese version and
the English version, the English version shall prevail.

Review and Approval

The Report was reviewed and approved by the Board on 25
June 2021.

Feedback

The Group respects your view on the Report. Should you have
any opinions or suggestions, you are welcome to share with the
Group at irwecon@wecon.com.hk.
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INTRODUCTION

Founded in 1974, Wecon Limited (“WL"), one of the principal
operating subsidiaries of the Group, started to engage in the
building and construction market in 1984. In response to the
business needs and future development, Wecon Construction &
Engineering Limited (“WCE"), another principal subsidiary of the
Group, was established in 1990 to undertake the superstructure
projects in the private sector.

For the past decades, the Group has involved and completed
a variety of projects in the provision of (i) building construction
services; and (ii) RMAA works services in both private and
public sectors. Our building construction services primarily
consist of building works for new buildings, including
residential, commercial and industrial buildings, while our
RMAA works services include the general upkeep, maintenance,
improvement, refurbishment, alteration and addition of existing

facilities and components of buildings and their surroundings.

The Group has established a long term relationship with a
variety of suppliers, subcontractors, specialists and financial
institutions that we can integrate and interlink them to deliver
the best quality, timely, high technological, responsive and

valuable building and construction services to our clients.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

The Group's efforts have been recognised by a number of
awards during the reporting period. The details are as follows:

e (Quality Contractor of the Year 2020

Organised by Hong Kong Professional Building Inspection Academy
m  Being the Main Contractor of the Quality Building of
the Year 2020 — Madison Park
- WCE

e (Quality Contractor of the Year 2019

Organised by Hong Kong Professional Building Inspection Academy
m  Being the Main Contractor of the Quality Building of
the Year 2019 — Commune Modern
- WCE

e  Five Stars Residency for the Year 2019

Organised by Hong Kong Professional Building Inspection Academy
m  Being the Main Contractor of the "Five Stars Residency
for the Year 2019 — Commune Modern”
- WCE

e  HKCA Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards

Organised by The Hong Kong Construction Association
m 2020 Environmental Merit Award
- WL

e  HKCA Safety Merit Award for the Year 2019

Organised by The Hong Kong Construction Association

m  Accomplishment of the Safety Achievement Target
(2.5/1000)
- WL

e  HKIBIM Awards 2020

Organised by The Hong Kong Institute of Building Information
Modelling
m  Honourable Mention of the HKIBIM Awards 2020 -
Residential Re-Development at 22A Kennedy Road
- RH Studio Limited

BRI HEREREHE

RIFHEERT
BEHRA - AEBERESERE  SHE

XEE - #HBwT

o 2000FEEFAREFHE
HEBEEREES TR
m R220FEBFEMRE - —F N
BEE v EGER
- WCE

o 19FEEFTEREDE
HEBEXREES T
m B9FEEFERE-—T|RY
1EFGERS
-  WCE

e 019FERERERD

HEBEERESES TN

m ABI209FEREREL -8k
2 HBEER
-  WCE

e EHREBSTBEERRAR

HESEEESEN
m 2020FRIRIEBELE
- WL

o 019FEFEEZEHEREEER

HESEEEE TN
m ZEER(9.5/1000)
- WL

o 2020 BEECEEBEG A
HE SRS ERES TR
m 20205 BREEFEEREEE IR
LS BB BN EERE

TEH
—  RH Studio Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The Board endeavours to support the Group’s commitment
to fulfilling its environmental and social responsibility and
has the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the Group’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility of the
implementation to the ESG Working Group (the “"Working
Group”). The Working Group comprises senior management
and core members from different departments of the Group
and is responsible for facilitating the adoption of ESG strategies
and policies throughout the Group. The Working Group reports
to the Board on the implementation of ESG initiatives and the
corresponding performance.

The Board regularly reviews the Group’'s ESG performance, and
examines and approves the Group's annual ESG report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders’ opinions are the solid foundation for the Group's
sustainable development and success. The stakeholder
engagement helps the Group to develop a business strategy
that meets the needs and expectations of stakeholders,
enhances the ability to identify risk and strengthens important
relationships. The Group communicates with its stakeholders
through various channels, shown as below.

RiR - HERERRERE

EERRNXRHRASERITEREREEE
ERAH  T2EHEEAEENERE 48
RERRBLRRE - EZGRANARETE
AEENRE g REGHBRR - I ##
REBEE MARHIRE g REBRER
BB RIS RET o

%%”@EHE}E FROTRERRNERE
KER TR NET TN - TN
ZHEE$$@TH*BFEJE’U%%&E$¥&*Z/Dﬁfc

B AERERESKERARE 18
RERREERBUR - TR/ MAME S SER

RIE - @ RERBRENRTERLMERER
3 o

EEerHiRIASENERE HEehER
R WigE MR AEENFERE - 4

"%\& E/D¥&i ©

FOESH

FOENERRAEERGAIHFEER MK

DHBREERE - HE2REPAEEIE

AR EFT R R AEHEBERRE - 227 E

%‘JJ_LEME’J i‘?ﬁﬁxfﬁ% AREBE B
A EREHEEF D ERB

Stakeholder Communication Channel

& BERE

Governmgnt and regulators . Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports,
B & BE B et announcements and other public information

3R - chEIERL -
&kt

HERERRE  AEMEMAFH

B -

o Supervision and inspection

ﬁ/—f&&m%ﬁ

70 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020/2021



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE HERERERSE

Stakeholder Communication Channel

& BBRE

Shareholder and investor e Annual general meetings and other general meetings of
R R EH Shareholders

Employee
=

Customer
L

S

plier/Subcontractor/Business Partner

Sup
HIES, DBl EBRH

Community
oo

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

IRERBERG REMRREAS

Company website

NGIFEIT

Press releases/announcements

LS LT /N =

Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports, announcements
and other public information

ﬁiﬁ CHRHRE - BIE e REANE  ASREMARE

Trainings

ol

Meetings

&

B R

Performance evaluation
KBAA

Survey

B

Fax, email and telephone
BH FEHNER
Meetings

P
B A

Fax, email and telephone
BE FEHNEHF
Meetings

%

Site visit

348 5

Survey

e

Trainings

3l

Participation in community programmes
S et @8

Donation

B

ESG Reports

BE  HaRkEARE

EEMFE

The Group identifies issues for disclosure in the Report through — AN5 B35 38 M &E S SN B 2 22 14 A A 38 Bl A g

ax g

internal and external materiality assessment. By considering the ~ SHVRERERE © &L R HEHAKE MK
dependence and influence on the Group of the stakeholders FERFEUARAREEAGHHNERR @ B2
and the resources available for the Group, the management EBEHBIERFHNELAHLETHE - BF
has identified key stakeholders and surveyed with them. They —EE@RHEHANEEEENAR A FHEER
have expressed their opinions and recommendations on the raRERLMIBHEZ -

sustainability issues related to the Group's operation via a

survey.
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Consolidating the results of internal assessment and the survey,

the Group has compiled the materiality matrix as shown below.

The issues that fall within the top right-hand quadrant have

relatively higher significance to both stakeholders and the

Group's businesses. The Group will continue to improve its

reporting process based on the assessment.

IMPACT ON THE STAKEHOLDER
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Materiality Matrix

Emissions 8
R

Wastewater and Waste 9
BEIK K BEEEY)

Energy Efficiency 10
BEIRAE

Water Efficiency 11
Pk

Raw Material Consumption 12
R EEERE

Environment and Natural 13
Resources

RERRARER 14
Climate Change

TR

IMPACT ON THE GROUP'S BUSINESS

HAKEXRBHNTE
Employment Practices 15
RIS B
Diversity and Equal Opportunities 16
Zle R EHE
Anti-discrimination 17
RIEA8

Occupational Health and Safety 18

BEEREELZE

Development and Training 19

B

Child Labour and Forced Labour 20

EIREHST

Supply Chain Management 21

HrEREE
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group endeavours to minimise any adverse impact on the
environment resulting from its business activities. The Group's
subsidiaries have implemented environmental management
systems and energy management systems, which have been
certified to comply with the standards required under ISO
14001:2015 and ISO 50001:2011 respectively. Furthermore, the
Group also endeavours to achieve green building certifications
(such as the BEAM Plus New Buildings issued by the Hong Kong
Green Building Council and the BEAM Society) for its projects.

Environmental Management

The Group's environmental policy shows its commitment
to protecting the environment of the Earth. To minimise
environmental impacts concerning our activities and services,
we would uphold our standards for environmental protection up
to the satisfaction of clients, customers and the public by:

e Complying with applicable legal requirements and other
rules and regulations.

e Preventing pollution, reducing waste and minimising the
consumption of resources.

e Educating, training and motivating employees to carry out
tasks in an environmentally responsible manner.

e Encouraging environmental protection among suppliers
and subcontractors.

e Integrating environmental consideration into the planning
and construction process.

The Group is committed to continual improvement of
environmental performance. This environmental policy will
be communicated to all staff members of the Group and our
subcontractors and suppliers.

Site Environmental Committee

Site Environmental Committee (“SEC") is established at project
site, depending on actual circumstance, to oversee all the
environmental-related matters. The organisation chart is as
follow.
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Contractor Project

Manager

AEHEE KR

Environmental
Officer
RIREE

General Foreman
BWET

Environmental officer communicates environmental issues
directly to project manager, and environmental information
(such as environmental mitigation measures, environmental work
procedures, on-the-job training plans; emergency procedures
and any new activities or procedures required) through
board notices, emails and internal circulars to our site staff.
The SEC meeting is held regularly to discuss the recent site
environmental issues such as environmental management plan,
inspection items, housekeeping and mosquito control etc.

Performance Monitoring

An environmental inspection is conducted regularly on
the project sites for checking whether the environmental
performance of such sites is satisfactory and in compliance
with the requirements of the contract and environmental
management plan. In addition, environmental performance
auditing is conducted regularly to evaluate the effectiveness of
the environmental mitigation measures and to find out the room
for improvement.

Complaint Handling Procedure

Environmental complaints are referred to the environmental
officer for conducting an investigation and recommending
remedial measures to the project manager if the complaint
is related to the works. During the reporting period, to the
best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any
significant environmental complaints lodged against the Group.
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Emissions

The Group's project sites are subject to certain environmental
requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong Kong such as Air
Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Water
Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance, Public
Health and Municipal Services Ordinance, Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance and Dumping at Sea Ordinance. During
the reporting period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge,
the Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance
incident involving the Group in this regard.

The Group ensures its compliance with relevant laws and
regulations through measures described in the following
sections.

Air Pollutants Emissions

The Group’s air pollutants emissions generated from various
sources, including but not limited to vehicles, dust from the
construction activities and material transportation. The total air
pollutant emissions were 16.5 kg in 2020/2021, representing a
decrease of approximately 12%, as compared to last year. The
decrease was attributed to a decrease in the consumption of
petrol of the Group’s motor vehicle during the reporting period.
The table below sets forth the breakdown of air pollutants by
category and premise:

BRI HEREREE

BB

AEENIAB WBRBETRBAINE TR
BRE - MERSREHERD] - RS E B %
Bl ~ ASREFIED - BEMREE RS - 2R
BERTBIGD  IRFEFZEFEGD S8 E
REIEHES - RIREHE - BEEHMA
ZRERBIE I Ty m A IR A AR EY R
PHERERER -

REBERLEBATEEH AT HEETE
2D RUTINESR T

22 RS R BN
REENZERSLEMBERASBRRES -
BIEETRRNAE - BEREBEENRER
PIRHE S o 522020  20214F - RS RY
ERBER165T R  REFRMPH12% °
Zm O BEERANEETERRE M
SHFEE TRHATE - TREIIZER RIZFE
DRI RS R YIRAAE |

2020/2021 2019/2020

2020 20214 2019 / 20204

Air Pollutants Emissions' kg kg
ZERISRMBE Fx Fx
Total Nitrogen Oxides (NOXx) AELY(NOX)EE 14.9 17.0
- Office /N 3.4 4.4

— Project Sites —TE H i B% 1.5 12.6
Total Sulphur Oxides (SOx) MELYW SO EE 0.5 0.5
— Office —WRE 0.3 0.2

— Project Sites —IE B g 0.2 0.3
Total Particulate Matter (PM) R YI(PMEE 1.1 1.2
- Office —WAE 0.3 0.3

— Project Sites —IE B 8 0.8 0.9
Total @it 16.5 18.7

! The data covers emissions from petrol and towngas consumption only. It is estimated
based on “How to prepare an ESG Report? Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and the latest
sustainability report published by The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited.

! ZEBREREUR MR FROBRELNYIN - ARIEME
B P TN B I AR R IR~ it @ R E VAR 7 M8k
2 REEREYIERERESDAREEFERRER
REBGASIARERRBSES -
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BiE -HERESR

Preventive and mitigation measures are implemented at project 18 B &R B H) IR MOREEMRIT -

sites as follows:

Air Emissions

Preventive/Mitigation Measures

ZRITRMEER TSR EIE
Dust e Watering dusty exposed areas, stockpiled materials or cover with tarpaulin sheets
X B2 RZER - HERM BT EE

Gaseous emissions

REEHER

Vehicle speed is limited to 8 km/h
BRRBHITEBRE /N
A wheel washing facility is provided at the site entrance

B DR R R e B AR

Power-off the idling vehicles/powered mechanical equipment
R E B, BEERMEENER

Ultra-low sulphur diesel is used

158 P R R A 50

Carry out vehicle maintenance properly to prevent excessive discharge of exhaust fumes
and noises

HELETEMRE LB ZBERRES

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions BERBEHEN

In response to the community’s gradual concern on greenhouse  FE @ ¥R = RS ([

ERBDEN R

)
gas ("GHG") emissions, climate changes and other related (Rt RHEMABBENETARRES @ &
issues, the Group has maintained records and report the GHG SESFHERIRE - LS REARSLHE R
emission annually through ESG report. The primary sources of E¥AZERISHEMN o BREREHENEZRIR
GHG emission are from diesel consumption by the generator, REBHALEHEFRE - B TRERE - (£
petrol consumption by vehicles, and use of electricity and BHKRER °

towngas.
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2020/2021 2019/2020

2020 / 20214 2019 /20204

tonnes CO,- tonnes CO,-

GHG Emissions? equivalent equivalent
BERBEHER WM-g{tmEE M-F{mEE
Total Scope 1® Emissions HE—SEBRE 656.5 562.3
- Office g VNES 47.8 32.5

— Project Sites —TE B & 608.7 529.8
Total Scope 24 Emissions HE—EERE 933.3 774.7
— Office —MRE 139.0 130.2

— Project Sites —TE B i A& 794.3 644.5
Total Scope 3° Emissions HE=SEHERE 235 21.9
— Office ) YNES 0.3 0.3

— Project Sites —I8 B B8 23.2 21.6
Total Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) HHENE(EE— - —kR=) 1,613.3 1,358.9
— Office VNS 187.1 163.0

— Project Sites —IE B A 1,426.2 1,195.9
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) RE(BEE8BTKRE) 1.5 1.1

2020/2021 GHG Emission by Scopes
2020/2021 FREE S D HREREHK
Scope 3

1% Office

2020/2021 GHG Emission by Premises
2020/2021 FRIGFEI D MR ERBHEK

Scope 1

#E—

41%
Scope 2 ;
E— Project Sites
58% B B AR

88%

? The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is made reference to the Guidelines to 2 RERBHIMBNFE2ZRFREZNERETIESE
Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings e EEREY (B FERAHMR)WREREN
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong published by the BERBOZEMBEES)  DEEHARAR  BE
Environmental Protection Department, and the Electrical and Mechanical Services BHEERBEPERRERAF  KBEEREBEE
Department, the latest sustainability reports published by the CLP Power Hong Kong OB AR RS -

Limited, Hong Kong Electric Investment and The Hong Kong and China Gas Company
Limited, Water Supplies Department and Drainage Services Department.

Scope 1: The direct emission from the business operations owned or controlled by the ~ * EE— REBBEERITHNEBLENEEHE - 2
Group, including the emission from the Group's vehicle fleet and the generators used FEARS BB RIE B AR AR BN
in project sites.

4 Scope 2: The “indirect energy” emissions from the internal purchased electricity N HE—  NEBEAREEEFEEEN HELRIR P -
consumption by the Group.

$E= REBIMNBR ARG EMERR . BEL
MR T BIEKBE RN EIZRKHE D IARR
5ERAREIESKNENPELROTEK

Scope 3: All other indirect emissions that occur outside the Group, including both °
upstream and downstream emissions, including the emissions due to electricity used

for freshwater processing by the Water Services Department and electricity used for
sewage processing by the Drainage Services Department.

72020 /20214 + 7K £ @ 4 U7 %% #91,103.28 & % 7T

° The Group's annual revenue is approximately HK$1,103.2 million (2019/2020: o &
(2019 /20204 : 1,204.0E @A TT) °

HK$1,204.0 million) in 2020/2021.

BIZKRAMRAE  FH2020/2021 7
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During the reporting period, the Group’'s GHG inventory
principally comprises Scope 1 and 2 emissions, similar to
last year. Scope 1 emissions, which include GHG emissions
arising from petrol, diesel and towngas consumption, account
for approximately 41% (2019/2020: 41%) of the total GHG
emissions. Scope 2 emissions, which include GHG emissions
primarily resulting from electricity and towngas purchased,
account for approximately 58% (2019/2020: 57%) of the total
GHG emissions. In terms of the GHG emissions by premises,
project sites are the primary source of the Group's total GHG
emissions, accounting for approximately 88% (2019/2020: 88%)
of the total GHG emissions.

The total GHG emissions and its intensity were 1,613.3
(2019/2020: 1,358.9) tonnes CO,-equivalent (tonnes CO,-e) and

5 (2019/2020: 1.1) tonnes CO,-e per million HKD revenue
respectively in 2020/2021. The total GHG emissions and its
intensity increased by approximately 19% and 36% respectively,
as compared to last year. They were mainly attributable to the
increases in the consumption of electricity.

The Group will continue to assess record and disclose its GHG

emissions annually.

Wastes Management

The Group acknowledges possible environmental impacts of
waste generated during the course of its operations such as
site clearance, excavation works, and construction and fitting
out works. The Group strives to mitigate environmental impacts
by adopting the right waste management strategy, prioritising
avoidance and minimisation of waste generation, reuse of
materials, recovery and recycling. The Group has established
Waste Management Plan and Construction Sites Working
Guidelines to workers as guidance to reduce the generation of
non-hazardous wastes. The Group applies for waste disposal
licenses for each construction project and discards non-
hazardous wastes generated into the designated landfills.
Mitigation measures implemented at project sites are as follows.
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Waste Type
REYIEE
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Treatment Approach
BETE

General refuse, including office
waste, food wastes and other
packaging wastes

Construction wastes including
both inert (e.g. rock, rubble,
boulder, earth, soil) and non-

—REEY) - BREMAERE
Y BN E B REY

REREY) > BEBE(INE
a-#Aa--EAEL-
138) RIFBIETF R
AR~ AORA R E A

RHOBEEYAE - DK
AR - BRIk
HibEEY

e Variety recycling bins
are provided to collect
paper, plastic and
other wastes separately

B A R E YE S REY)

® Reuse and recycle
construction wastes

A% BB HBRAM B E R

® Replace timber with

inert (e.g. bamboo and timber, metal for site hoarding RS R A 2R
paper, and other organic waste) BEH)) formwork and
scaffolding
Metal wastes TBEY * Recycled by specific o TR EREL
contractors
2020/2021 2019/2020
2020 20214 2019 / 20204
Waste tonnes tonnes
&Y 7 Mg
General refuse, inert and non-inert —RREEY) - 1B BRIEB I EEEY 14,959.3 27,261.7
construction wastes
Metal wastes (Steel bar/metal strips) SEEYENGE £BR) 306.7 2,296.1
Total non-hazardous wastes’ BEBRYHRE 15,266.0 29,557.8
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) RE(BEEBITIE) 13.8 24.5

The total amount of waste was 15,266.0 tonnes, and its intensity
was 13.8 tonnes per million HK$ revenue in 2020/2021. The total
waste amount and its intensity decreased by approximately 48%

and 44% respectively, as compared to 2019/2020.

To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware
of any significant amount of hazardous wastes generated in the
course of our operation in the project sites and the office. Going
forward, the Group will continue refining its wastes reduction

72020 / 20214 -+ & ¥ 42 & /315,266.0
ME - REEER/TEBE L TWE13.8M o B
mia g &k HEE 5 582019/ 20205 f& 1K
#148% K. 44% °

BREEMA - ANEEW T ANEIR B 8RR
NEREEBRRETELEMNAREFTEEY -
RERK  AEEFEBTERERER X

HEEEBR T RERBEER -

measures and disclose relevant results where appropriate.

/ It includes general refuse and construction wastes.

’ BIE—MRREY R 2EED
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Wastewater Treatment

Wastewater is generated from activities like pre-drilling works,
bored piling works and wheel washing activities. The Group
takes appropriate measures to avoid contamination and
blockage of public drains and sewers:

e An adequate drainage system (e.g. temporary ditches,
drainage channel, U-channels and drain pipes) is maintained
to collect runoff

e Sedimentation basins or traps at temporary ditches or
permanent drainage channels are sat up to settle surface
runoff prior to disposal

e Manholes would be adequately covered and temporary
sealed so as to prevent silt, construction materials or debris
being washed into drainage system

EEK R

FEKRTAFERTIE -
HEBFERPTESL -

BIHELIZ N EWIGE
AR B REVE & 15

LA )5 R M T N PR RO57KER -

A E PR R R (R 5IE - PRK

RE UPRBRIOKEB)ABEE
//IL
HERER - ERRBRICKATIKEE

RILTLBOB R RE B L R ER

WEHETE D BELRSETE - WABTLE
W~ BEM B BB ATKEL

2020/2021 2019/2020

2020 /20214 2019 /20204

Wastewater?® m3 m3
BE ke 375K SR
Total et 40,287.0 35,379.0
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) ZRE(EEEBTKE) 36.5 29.4

During the reporting period, the total wastewater discharged
was 40,287.0 cubic meters, and its intensity was 36.5 cubic
metres per million HK$ revenue. The total wastewater
discharged, and its intensity increased significantly, as compared
to last year. The increase was attributable to the increase in the
construction area of projects during the reporting period.

Eé WEME - BEKEBERE /540,287,032 77

/

\|~
/|

7
S ©

o e

\|~

FEZEAFBAEE TWE365YF
@ﬂ@FEK“E EmER AFREER
ZIENN T AN RS A B B mE

SEONFTEL ©

Figures include wastewater from project sites, offices and directors’ quarters.
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Noise Control

Noise is emanated from various construction activities, including
but not limited to the operation of excavators and tower crane,
piling, erection or dismantling of scaffolding and formwork,
hammering. Mitigating noise nuisance is also an important
part of pollution mitigation since many of our construction
sites are located in urban areas. Adhering to the Noise Control
Ordinance, our project sites have acquired construction
noise permit before operations commence. Construction
activities emanate noise. Some of the mitigation measures are
implemented to mitigate the noise:

e Switch off the equipment when not in use to eliminate
noise generation by idling machine

e Use machinery and equipment with low noise production
when possible

e Use facilities in good maintenance condition and provide
regular maintenance to powered mechanical equipment

e Strive to avoid noisy operations taking place at noise

sensitive areas

e Covered powered mechanical equipment with acoustic
material/shield when exceeding the noise limit

e Use noise enclosures or barriers around the noise sensitive

receiver when exceeding the noise limit

e Conduct noise monitoring regularly

R HERERRS

g 22

BEXRBSBRELLE  BREFIRRIEZRE
BAE AL ERAIRIE - T - BRIFR
MR NIRME - B8 - AR BRTZ RSN
BUNTR - FLERRSZBTEERS
ANEZ R - RAWEBR RET(RE
BHED) - EIEXRFRAICMGRERRS
APARE o BERDBHRE - HMIERET
AR IE T AR B R

o FARASEEMAMRE T HURRM - AR HES
EHEELNRS

o BARLE RIEIR T OB R

o ([ERREMERIFHRG - WEREH
BREETRE

s BEBRLERTHRBETRI(ER

o EBBERIRER - BREMHFE
D R

o EHBARIRER  ERBHZENS
FEERRSEXREFE
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Use of Resources

The significant use of resources of the Group includes
energy, water and other construction material. Minimising the
consumption of resources is one of the key consideration in
operations as stated in the Group's Environmental Policy. We
have also adopted the ISO 50001:2001 Energy Management
System Standard. Energy consumption is controlled through
administrative measures, such as switching off electrical
appliances during non-business hours. For energy consumption,
both office and project sites consume electricity and fuel for
vehicles. Also, fuel for generators is used at project sites. The
Group’s business activities do not consume packaging materials.

EREH

AEBEANTIEZERBELR - KEEA
FREEF L o BIMAKERBEERRTAE - &
ERVERBERREEENTIRZERRNEZ
— o FAMIIFEFAISO 50001:2001 88 IR E I8
BRRE - NEEFEBITRIEM(INIEE
By ] B PR B =5 ) 12 1 BEJRUB R © BLBEIRIBAE
mE - WAERIBBWEBGHINMERERM
HREE S R E - B - IBRRIVARE
FAFEIBRE) R B - REBREBAS L E
HFEEMBREMEL

2020/2021 2019/2020

2020 /20214 2019 / 20205

Energy Consumption MWh MWh

BEIBUR#E RE B KA

Total Fossil Fuel Energy Consumption? 1t ¥R 48 BE TR 82 2,648.8 2,145.5

— Office —WRE 1741 112.6

— Project Sites —JEH i RE 2,474.7 2,032.9

Total Purchased Energy Consumption™ & AREF EZEME " 1,714.9 1,433.1

— Office —WRE 180.0 169.3

— Project Sites —IEH AR 1,534.9 1,263.8

Total Energy Consumption HEERHRE 4,363.7 3,578.6

— Office VNS 354.1 281.9

— Project Sites —JA B & 4,009.6 3,296.7

Intensity (per million HKD revenue)® ZE(EEEBATWE) 4.0 3.0
During the reporting period, the total energy consumption R#E ﬂF’ﬁ 2020 /" 20214F &) 4B RE IR E FE
and its intensity were 4,363.7 MWh and 4.0 MWh per million RHEZEE D 5l 54,363. 7J|:E51&t§%f§

HKD revenue respectively in 2020/2021.
consumption and its intensity increased by approximately 22%

The total energy

and 33% respectively, as compared to last year. The increases
were attributable to the increases in the consumption of petrol,
towngas and electricity.

Tk %5 40&&1157 c EEREREMNERE
R 2= F N #922% 52 33% © iEJJDTJEEIB’:\m
S RN E SRR -

It includes the energy consumption from the fuel uses of Group’s vehicles and
generator.

o It includes the energy consumption from the purchased electricity and towngas of the
Group.
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In terms of the total energy consumption by premises, the
Group's total energy consumption was primarily contributed
by project sites, accounting for approximately 92% of the total
energy consumption in both 2020/2021 and 2019/2020.

Water is also recognised as a precious resource. During the
reporting period, we obtained water from the third party
supplier, hence, we were not aware of any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose. In order to reduce the use of
freshwater, the Group encourages the reuse and recycling of
wastewater at project sites; for example, the treated wastewater
is reused for dust suppression and washing vehicles.

R HERERRS

MEMEENBRREREEMNS  ~5H
WEREREETZHBEEMERES B
2020 /" 20214F %2019 /" 20204F 7 Bl 15 42
BEREREL92% ©

KERTEREL ENEIR - RIREHM
B E = HERERUOR - Bt - 3
3 48 B IR AL AT SR BUE A KRHO B RE - REd
RKHER - AEE B EIE B R E A
R ABIR{E AREK  an4E fa 12 /O BE 7K AT B K1 A
RIPEERAE -

2020/2021 2019/2020

2020 /20215 2019 / 2020%F

Water Consumption™ m? m?
Ax" 75K 75K
Total Water Consumption AkEE 37,568.0 35,788.5
— Office — WA= 467.0 510.0

— Project Sites —JEH R 37,101.0 35,278.5
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue)® FE(BEEBTKE) 34.1 29.7

During the reporting period, the total water consumption was
37,568.0 cubic meters, and its intensity was 34.1 cubic metres
per million HK$ revenue. The total water consumption, and
its intensity increased significantly, as compared to last year.
They were attributed to the increase in the construction area of
projects during the reporting period.

Moving forward, the Group will continue refining measures and
evaluate the related results achieved if applicable.

PR HEARE - A/K4E 2 537,568.032 5K -
kEZEABAEB TSI A K- A
KBEREZEREFBELN - WIHH
RREHAMIE B LB MATE o

REARK  AEEFUEERZEN - LER
AHEAEREAAR -

" It includes the water consumption on the project sites and offices.

" HBREEMBRMREAENAEK -
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The Environment and Natural Resources

As established in its environmental policy, the Group strives
to mitigate the impact of its operations on environment and
natural resources. Project sites of the Group are located in non-
ecologically sensitive area; therefore there is no significant
impact on the environment and natural resources. Nevertheless,
the Group has identified potential environmental impacts of
related business activities as follows.

Environmental Impacts Activity/Process

RERRRER

BINRBEBRATARE - AEBBRERZ
BHRBNMRAERNTE - AEENIEAB
RN IFERRGURER - Wit - HIRBE LK
RERALBEEATE - BEWU - AREC
BRI T AEBR RN EBAEIRRTE

Management Approach

BEY A, BR EETE
Air and noise pollution, smog ® Machinery operation e Emission sources control
ERRREE & WM BERURE 12

e Construction works

BETRE

Degradation of aquatic habitat and drinking water supply ~ ® Discharge of wastewater e Emission sources control
BEERRERSBARELSEREL FEIKHERR BERE R
Soil and groundwater contamination e Spillage and leaks from machinery engine e Preventive control
TERM TG BREDRELNSE clre
Global warming and air pollution e Power supply e Resource utilisation
FHERRERTH H"E BRI
Conservation of Natural Resources e Construction works e Resource utilisation
RABRRE BETR BRI

The Group continuously introduces measures to minimise
the potential environmental impacts of the operation on the
environment and natural resources. The details of action taken
are illustrated in the sections headed “Emission” and “Use
of Resources”. Furthermore, emergency response plans are
established for chemical spillage, adverse weather condition
and failure of the wastewater treatment system to prevent
problem caused by emergencies.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The Group believes that employees are the most critical asset
of the organisation. As the business grows, the Group must
establish sustainable human capital to attract and retain talents.
The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance,
Employments’ Compensation Ordinance, Minimum Wage
Ordinance, Construction Workers Registration Ordinance,
Discrimination Legislation Ordinance and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the "MPF Scheme”) Ordinance. During the
reporting period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the
Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance case
in this regard. The Group has established human resources
management policy and other related guidelines, which set out
the details on remuneration, dismissal, recruitment, promotion,
working hours, rest periods, diversity, equal opportunities and
anti-discrimination.

Remuneration, compensation and dismissal

To attract and retain talents, the Group provides a competitive
remuneration package to employees including salary,
discretionary bonuses, overtime compensation and other cash
subsidies. In general, the Group determines employee salaries
based on each employee’s education/technical qualifications,
responsibilities, experiences, performance and skills. The
Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of employees, which forms the basis of decisions
with respect to salary changes, bonuses and promotions.

For resignation on employee’s own accord, an exit interview
is conducted with the resigned employee to provide an
opportunity for the employees who are leaving the Group to
discuss the working experience with the Group. The feedbacks
received are beneficial to the human resources system, working
environment and future positioning of jobs.

Recruitment and promotion

The Group believes that efficiency, effectiveness and success
of the organisation depends primarily on the skills, abilities
and commitment of the employees who constitute the most
important asset of the organisation.

R HERERRS
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The philosophy of the Group seeks to attract the best-qualified
candidates who support the mission and value of the Group
and who respect and promote excellence through diversity. The
Group aims to recruit the most suitable talent and to maintain
a pool of employees according to the manpower planning and
needs. Well-performing staff will be transferred and promoted
to fill our vacancies and provide them with the opportunities to
explore their better prospect in the Group.

The Group recognises the importance of development and
growth of employees. Performance appraisal is conducted
regularly to evaluate employees’ performance regarding safety,
work attitude, technical skills, interpersonal skills etc.

Working hours and rest periods

The Group is dedicated to providing reasonable working hours
and rest periods to employees. All employees are entitled to
public or statutory holidays as announced in The Government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Gazette each year.
In addition to those holidays, employees are entitled to annual
leave, sick leave, compensation leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave etc.

Diversity, equal opportunities and anti-discrimination
The Group recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversified Board and workforce to enhance the quality of its
performance. Board Diversity Policy is developed, and diversity
is the value incorporated in the recruitment practices.
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The Group is an equal opportunity employer and is
committed to providing equal opportunities in relation to
all human resources matters or in any other activities during
employment including recruitment, training, promotion, transfer,
compensation, benefits provision, termination, etc., regardless
of age, gender, physical or mental state, marital status, family
status, pregnancy, race, colour, nationality, religion, political
affiliation, sexual orientation, etc. Employees are recognised and
rewarded according to their contribution, performance and skill.
Remuneration package and training opportunities are provided
to all staff on the objective basis of their job capacity, personal
capability and performance. During the reporting period, to the
best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of
any significant discrimination cases.

Sexual harassment is strictly prohibited under the employee’s
handbook. Employee, who believes that he/she has been or is
being sexually harassed, is encouraged to report the incident
of sexual harassment, as well as seek advice and guidance
to the relevant supervisors or department heads. He/she can
further lodge his/her complaint to the Human Resources &
Administration Department who will investigate thoroughly and
confidentially in accordance with the guidelines in handling
sexual harassment complaints.

The Group will take appropriate disciplinary action against
anyone who is in breach of the regulations which may in the
most serious of cases lead to termination of employment
contract.

R HERERRS

AEEDHREFERE  BOREMBAN
BEREENERBENEREADEPIRH
FERE  BEBEE  H) &f #F
e EARME BEE . THRFHK T
A HERSGBEIREE - BN - REM
o RE - ER - BEe - B R BA
&R HEASE - HATRIEEEER - R
ARZER A EEREE - BfIZRERTIF
S BABRNORERRNEBIKERMAR
BRRHFINHE NSRS - RREHRE -
BREEMA > AEEWEZFREFNERNER
(EES

FanE B F AT - AR EERM B 15
B MARERSNEENEAER IR
B RASBEMMEBEE ABLEME
BREERBEMN  YSREFNES - %
BT IRAl A — F A D ERMITHREFIEE
HREF - BRERIPIRRIE S Sl B IR AR B IR
o FRBERRENRSE -

AEEBLEERRTENTAABRIVEE N
wEED  SEENBAAEERERALN
HIERLE ©

BIERARAT  F52020/2021 87



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRS

During the reporting period, the Group received one harassment
complaint made by a staff member of the Group while the
person being complained against was a member of a third-party
company. The Group reacted immediately by disengaging the
complainant from the person who was suspected of harassing
the complainant and collecting information regarding the case
from other staff onsite. The Group has made announcements
stressing the importance of the Group's anti-harassment policy,
and that harassment is intolerable. Furthermore, the Group has
notified the third-party company whom the person suspected of
harassing the complainant was from about the harassment case
and urged the third-party company to take follow up actions on
the case including the establishment of preventive measures on
harassment cases at project workplaces. After the investigation
and implementation of relevant improvement measures are
exercised, the complainant has accepted the arrangements of
the Group and the third-party company, the compliant has been
withdrawn and the case was closed.

Employee benefits and welfare

According to the applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong, the Group provides various benefits and welfare to the
employees. The Group participates in the defined contribution
scheme under the MPF Scheme Ordinance which is available
to its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme by the Group and employees are made based on a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed to
the MPF Scheme. The Group also provides medical insurance,
employees’ compensation insurance, marriage gift, maternity
coupon, condolence money, festive treats, and reimbursement
to employees. On the other hand, the Group has organised
other welfare activities and arranged benefits for our employees;
however, considering that COVID-19 was running rampant in
the world during the reporting period, the Group has limited
the organisation of employee activities to mitigate the risks
of spreading of the virus. Activities such as No Tobacco Day,
birthday and Christmas parties in small scale and mooncake
coupons etc. to employees.
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As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 186 employees. 72021F3H31H - & & E & B186% &
All employees are located in Hong Kong. The details of the & ° FIAREHMLNES - BN IS LM
workforce and employee turnover rate during the reporting BIREBRKENFELOT :

period are as follows:

Workforce as at 31 March'? 2020/2021 2019/2020
A3A31 AT 2 2020 /20214 2019 20204
By Gender R

Male B 144 151

Female 7 42 45
By Age Group REERAA R

Below 30 30 AT 46 37

30-50 30&505% 86 96

51 or above S1pRsA B 54 63
By Employment Type RIERER

Full Time 28 185 194

Part Time FE 1 2
Total #sct 186 196
Turnover Rate™ 2020/2021 2019/2020
TR 2020 20214 2019 / 20204
By Gender gl

Male E=Lis 54.1% 34.7%

Female % 50.0% 47.2%
By Age Group REHRAR

Below 30 308 A T 34.8% 64.0%

30-50 30&505% 65.1% 26.7%

51 or above 51 A 50.0% 38.3%
Overall @st 53.2% 37.7%
12 It ilnccliuilies the employees of the Group only. Workers of the subcontractors are not 12 HEREAELEES  TRESBANIA -

included.
& Turnover rate = Number of employees left the Group during the reporting period/ 3 MRE =PI EAMBEAEENES A RS
Average number of employees during the reporting period HEE 8 T AR

BIZKRAMRAE  FH2020/2021
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Health and Safety

Due to the nature of works in the construction industry,
accidents are more likely to happen than other industries and
therefore the Group has adopted a health and safety policy
statement (the “Policy Statement”). The Group has stated in its
Policy Statement its commitment to protecting its employees,
subcontractors and the public from being affected by our works.
The Group has adopted an occupational health and safety
management system in accordance with the requirements of
ISO 45001:2018 accreditation and has in place various policies
and procedures to maintain health and safety in the workplace.

The Group strictly abides by the applicable laws and regulations
in Hong Kong relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazardous,
including but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance,
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations, Occupiers Liability
Ordinance. During the reporting period, to the best of our
Director's knowledge, the Group was not aware of any material
accident which involve the Group nor was there any material
non-compliant incident committed by the Group in relation to
work safety. To the best of our Directors’ knowledge and belief,
the Group was also not involved in any material litigation,
criminal prosecution or disciplinary actions against the Group
which relates to the accident happened during the reporting
period.

Safety Organisation

The Group has established a Company Safety Management
Committee and a Site Safety Committee with clearly defined
responsibilities. The former is responsible for developing,
reviewing and revising the Group’s Health and Safety Policy
and regularly monitoring the proper implementation of a safety
management system. The latter provides and improves the
safety at work on-site and shall able to participate in the making
and monitoring of arrangements for safety at the workplace.
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Health and Safety Measures and Implementation

To provide a safe and healthy working environment for
employees and subcontractors and to ensure compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong, a safety
plan is implemented at the commencement and during the
implementation period of each project and hazard analysis
is conducted. The safety officers, general foreman and site
management personnel conduct regular site visits to ensure the
workers have taken all necessary safety precaution measures.
Some key measures are implemented at the project sites as
follows:

e All new employees are required to attend safety induction
training that is conducted by safety officers within two days

after their commencement of work on-site

e All employees are required to wear or use appropriate
safety equipment or clothing and use the appropriate
safety devices, as well as to be familiar with the relevant
requirements of the project safety plan and other specific
safety requirements

On the other hand, the Group has established Standard
Construction Site Arrangement and Safety Measures for workers
to comply and follow at work to mitigate the occurrence of
accidents and occupational hazards. In order to increase the
awareness of safety at workplace, a Safety Penalty Schedule,
which was a penalty system to penalise any non-compliance of
Occupational Safety regulations was established to lower the
possibilities of accidents and fatalities further.
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Monitoring System

Regular meetings are held for directors, safety officers and
site supervisors to share the latest information and good
practices with respect to safety. In the event of the occurrence
of incidents and near misses, prompt corrections will be taken
by following the emergency preparedness and response
procedure. Follow-up investigation will be carried out to review
the safety system to find out the root causes of the case(s)
and prevent reoccurrence of similar cases. Apart from routine
safety inspections, regular safety walks by senior management
and safety audits are conducted at all project sites to verify the
sufficiency and effectiveness of safety control measures.

Precautionary Measures of COVID-19

As COVID-19 was running rampant during the reporting period,
we have established a series of measures to mitigate the risks of
the COVID-19 virus from spreading including but not limited to
the following,

e All employees must fill in and submit the Anti-pandemic
Declaration Form, any employees who have visited other
countries must disclose relevant information in detail in the
form;

e Any employees who have visited high risk areas/regions
for COVID-19 must be quarantined for 14 days before they
report for duty;

e Any employees suffering from symptoms of pneumonia
must report their cases to the Group. Also, they must not
report to work and are required to rest at home as well as
seek proper medical treatment;
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Masks are required to be worn by all employees at offices
and project sites to mitigate the risks of infection. We
have offered masks for both our employees working at the
offices and for those who are working at the project sites;

All employees are required to record their body
temperature before they report to duty;

The Group encourages employees to wash their hands
frequently and properly;

All employees should avoid unnecessary physical contact
and maintain social distancing;

The Group encourages employees to participate in
the Universal Community Testing Programme and the
COVID-19 Vaccination Programme.

Safety Performance

During the reporting period, the Group achieved zero fatalities.

The accident rate per 1,000 employees or workers for the
Group and our subcontractors in 2020/2021 are 0.0 and 5.5
respectively, which are much lower than the Hong Kong

construction industry’s average of 29.0 per 1,000 workers'™. The
total number of lost days due to injuries is 115 days (2019/2020:
320 days). We will continue our efforts to raise safety awareness

amongst our stakeholders and to ensure that we learn from

these events to improve our safety performance.
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The accident rate is extracted from the Issue No. 20 (August 2020), Occupational
Safety and Health Statistic Bulletin, Occupational Safety and Health Branch, Labour
Department.
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2020/2021 2019/2020
2020 /20214 2019 / 2020
Number Reportable Accidents AREEHEE
- The Group — A&
— Subcontractors — DB 14
Accident Rate per 1,000 employees or  &1,0008{EE % T AWEHES
workers'
— The Group —REE 0.0 0.0
— Subcontractors — e 55 16.4
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rates BAIBIGEEHHER(EBLAIERT
(LTIFR) BERIEER )
— The Group —REE 0.0 0.0
— Subcontractors —DEH 0.2 0.6
Fatality Rate per 1,000 employees or H1,0008EERT AT R
workers'”
— The Group N E 0.0 0.0
— Subcontractors —DER 0.0 0.0

The Group will continue to review the existing occupational
health and safety management system and elevate the safety
awareness of the employees and subcontractors.

AEBERHEERRERERRNL2ER
HE URSEEERDEENLEZEH

Accident rate per 1,000 employees or workers = (Number of reportable accident/Daily
average employees or workers) x 1,000

LTIFR = (Number of lost time injuries/Total hours worked by all employees or workers
during the reporting period) x 100,000

Fatality rate per 1,000 employees or workers = (Number of fatality/Daily average
employees or workers) x 1,000
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Development and Training

As stated in the Group’s Training and Development Policy,
the Group provides equal opportunity for all staff to develop
their knowledge, skills and abilities through a blend of learning
methods including mentoring, coaching, on-the-job training,
courses, conferences and seminars. The Group also encourages
self-development of employees through the taking up of
training programmes and seminars. The main objective of
training and development is to help develop key competencies
which enable individuals to perform current or future jobs
successfully. The Group will increase training to align with the
development of the industry or in response to the update of
new skills and knowledge to meet the internal and market
demand.

The Group provides various types of training to employees and
sponsors them to attend various training courses. During the
reporting period, we provided Directors’ Training relating to
different ways of fundraising for listed companies. To raise the
safety awareness of our employees and workers, we provided
site safety training covering various topics (such as aloft work
sharing sessions, safety induction course, safety enhancement
training, working procedures under adverse weather conditions,
emergency response procedures, protection gear, safety
awareness of office and project sites). To enrich the working
knowledge of our employees, we provided training on various
topics (such as introduction training relating to functions of
a new enterprise resources planning system adopted by the
Group).
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During the reporting period, the Group had 83.3% of the total
number of employees received training, and they received
464 hours of training (2019/2020: 604 hours). The details are as
follows:

Percentage of Employee

RmEHME AEEE

B 4 3 mM83.3%

B X F A 55 9 B 2 B464E /)
(2019 /" 20204F : O4AfE/ N ) » IS0 ¢

Receiving Training'® 2020/2021 2019/2020
ZiEEES L 2020 /20214 2019/ 2020%
By Gender gl

Male B 98.6% 60.3%

Female pegid 31.0% 35.6%
By Employment Category RIEMRER

Senior Management BREERE 90.0% 90.0%

Middle Management/Non-management FREIEE SFEIREEAS

Professionals 100.0% 100.0%

Supervisor/Department Head B EF T 100.0% 42.3%

Civilian/Frontline Staff X RN B 70.6% 48.7%
Overall st 83.3% 54.6%

2020/2021 2019/2020

2020 / 20214 2019 /20204

Average Training Hours" hours/employee hours/employee

P15 3 S| B 81 RN, EE BE B
By Gender gl

Male E==Eis 2.7 3.5

Female peqis 1.8 1.8
By Employment Category REREER

Senior Management mREEE 4.3 9.8

Middle Management/Non-management F#REIREE FFEIBHEAE

Professionals 5.9 5.6

Supervisor/Department Head EE HBAEE 3.4 0.7

Civilian/Frontline Staff X RSN B 1.1 1.4
Overall E=t 2.5 3.1
8 Percentage of trained employee = Number of employees received training during the @ ZHlEEBDL=-RBEHRMEZIEE A NREH

reporting period/Number of employees at the end of the reporting period EXEUN
¥ Average training hours = Total training hours during the reporting period/Total number AR HIBF B=3 2545 HRRA 0 SR IS B/ 54 3025 A 0F
of employees at the end of the reporting period SRt
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Labour Standards

The Group prohibits the employment of child labour, forced
labour and illegal labour. The Group has established internal
guideline of employment of a person under the age of 18. The
Group has implemented the following measures to prevent
having child labour or illegal immigrants from being on-site, and
to prevent child labour, forced labour or illegal workers from
taking employment on-site:

1. Human resources and administrative officers inspect and
take a copy of the original of the Hong Kong identity
card and/or other documentary evidence of the applicant
showing that he/she is lawfully employable in Hong Kong.

2. The subcontracting agreement contains a clause whereby
subcontractors are required only to hire persons who are
lawfully employable to work on-site and to prevent any
illegal worker entering the site.

3. The Group regularly reviews recruitment measures to
ensure compliance with relevant regulations and other
regulations on child labour or forced labour and requires all
subcontractors to comply with relevant laws.

The Group strictly abides the Employment Ordinance and
section 38A of the Immigration Ordinance. During the reporting
period, to the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not
aware of any non-compliant case relating to child labour, forced
labour and illegal immigrant labour.
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Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to building lasting and constructive
relationships with partners in its supply chain. The suppliers of
goods and services to the Group mainly include:

e  subcontractors

e suppliers of construction materials mainly provision of
concrete and reinforcing steel bar

e machinery and equipment rental service providers

The code of conduct adopted by the Group (the “Code of
Conduct”), which regulates the conduct of our employees in the
course of their employment, alongside with other procurement-
related policies and guidelines specify our dedication to a
fair, transparent and competitive procurement process which
requires all employees to observe the highest standards
of business integrity and to comply with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Group maintains a list of approved suppliers/subcontractors
which is updated on an ongoing basis and we generally only
select suppliers/subcontractors from such approved suppliers/
subcontractors list for our projects.

In general, suppliers/subcontractors are approved and selected
after taking into account factors such as safety performance,
costs, technical expertise, financial background, past
performance, reliability and quality of goods, workmanship and
services. For certain projects, our customers may retain their
rights to nominate certain specific suppliers/subcontractors to
fulfil certain parts of the works under the relevant contracts.
Where our customers nominate a supplier/subcontractor, the
Group generally retains the right to object to the use of such
nominated suppliers/subcontractors with supporting reasons.
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The performance of suppliers/subcontractors is evaluated at
least once a year to determine whether corrective or preventive
actions have to be implemented on suppliers/subcontractors
with unsatisfactory performance, or that such suppliers/
subcontractors with unsatisfactory performance shall be
removed from the approved list of suppliers/subcontractors.

For further information regarding the Group’s measures in
relation to environmental compliance, safety and quality
control of subcontractors, please refer to the sections headed
“Environmental Aspects”, “Health and Safety” and “Product
Responsibility” in the Report.

During the reporting period, the Group had a total of 1,467
(2019/2020: 1,250) suppliers and subcontractors, and all of them
were located in Hong Kong.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises the significance of quality in construction
and maintenance and it is the prime objective of the Group
to commit with due integrity and efficiency to discharge its
contractual duties relative to the quality of work as stated in
its quality policy. The Group plans, implements, and controls
systems to assure the conformance with the specified customer
requirements of all buildings and maintenance projects.
The Group promotes among all employees the awareness
and importance of quality and calls for the co-operation,
participation and leadership in achieving the Group objectives.

Quality Management

To maintain consistent quality and safety of services for
customers, the Group has established a formal quality
management system which is certified to be in compliance
with the requirements of ISO 9001:2015. The quality control
measures are implemented as follows.
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BiE -HERESR

HE

Phase Quality Control Measure

S EEEMER

Tendering Phase o |dentify and review requirement of the potential customers during the tender phase to ensure that we are capable of meeting the relevant
contract requirement for all building construction projects

REER REBENEE MEREERPNEL - NRRAMBENaMEETRERANABANEL

Project Planning Phase

RERBIRR

Project Implementation Phase

EREEE

Completion Phase

IR

Mobilise resources to initiate better project preparation to the requirement of the potential customers and form a project team which
expeditiously utilise competent and qualified personnel

FPARNE P RRREERNRRELRPOHER  MEKIER BN - RAMERAARNRAERAR

Arrange for placement of early material orders, contracts and secure necessary trade workers and machinery resources for the works or
projects

R THRMRTERAY  YRETRSEAYENTARBRER

Post a contract award notification and conduct a tender handover meeting among the relevant responsible staff once a contract is
confirmed to ensure project team members review and resolve early procurement requirements

—BANER RERLERANENE RAHRARENGENRENREE NERERENKERMARAPHREER

Hold meetings among key project team members to discuss the relevant contract and resources issues to ensure the project team is
suitably prepared, has a good understanding of the requirements for the project, and is familiar with the project scope and the proposed
method of working upon which the tender was based

I2REENRERTER  ARANANRERRE  NERAEENRERE  THER RXARERAERAR REREEMKENT
BEENE

Project manager will ensure that (i) any existing foundations underground services and adjacent structures are surveyed to ascertain their
condition before commencement of our works (whenever necessary); (ii) a site \?/out plan is prepared and agreed and that any necessary

technical submissions (such as method statements, quality plans, inspection and test plans and temporary works design submissions) are
properly prepared and approved prior to submission

BREERRRIETRA NS TRESTABEIRRANERTIENEEANR(WELR)  (IERELFAEHBHER - REFL
ENRMAR(MIET R B8 8 BRRAFHEARERIREE ERRACZERE REY

Prepare detailed plans and/or schedules for the procurement of materials, trade workers and machinery for communication with approved
suppliers and subcontractors

REFAOIH  TARESRESER/AREER  UEHERTREERABE

Review requisition and review quotations from the suppliers and subcontractors to ensure proper control before and upon delivery of such
materials, services and machinery to the project sites

EHHEBRD BENRARTERE  IRRRWAENH  RERESEEER R RAERZEER

Hold regular site review meetings with suppliers/subcontractors and relevant site staff to review the project progress, resources
arrangement, project safety and security and any information that is relevant to control the project operations

HEED/HOBRERLRA TR ANERREE  IEREEER  BRTY  BERERRRAREZAER SERRNEMEH

Evaluate and control the risks to provide a means whereby job hazards or potential hazards are identified, and manage such risks in a way
to eliminate or reduce them to a tolerable or acceptable level

FETERER  RETENIERERNERRENNE  YERLERAR  USERRRREEN R RHARZHOKT

Carry out inspection of works and safety, health, environmental and quality ("SHEQ") inspection to ensure that the completed works
conform to the requirements of customers according to the work requirements and relevant specifications, and that the site performance
conforms to our SHEQ policy and legal and other requirements

ENIRRRRRE BE RRLEE(ZR #E BRRAREER iR ARRCTAIECREIRRERAERRLERE,HRE
RBRAERZ:  BR REREERERERRAMRE

Works which have been found non-compliant or defective and such issues are not solved immediately shall be physically identified by
markings, tags or notices or, where practical, be segregated to prevent them from unintended use or further processing

RERRTARARRE  BEABRUAMINIREEREL BEIABAR(ETIR)NREERER U LESPERTE—FRER

Tk
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Intellectual Property Protection, Advertising and Labelling

The Group's business does not involve research and
development, product packaging and labelling activities.
Besides, the Group does not rely heavily on marketing and
advertising. To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was
not involved in any material non-compliant incident or material
litigation, prosecution, disciplinary actions or complaints relating
to intellectual property, advertising and labelling involving the
Group.

Customer Data Protection and Privacy

The Group attaches great importance to the confidential
information of the customers. The Group strives to protect
the privacy of its customers, business partners and staff in the
collection, processing and use of their business or personal
data. The Group's Human Resources Management Policy and
Handbook provides guidance on the handling of confidential

information.

We have adopted data protection policy in our staff handbook
to require our employees to keep all information and matters
relating to the Group's business and affairs confidential and
must not disclose the same to any unauthorised third parties
or other employees within the Group who are not privy to
such confidential information. This obligation to maintain
confidentiality remains valid after the cessation of employment
of the relevant employees.

We also clearly state in our staff handbook that for all
documents and information belonging to the Group, every
employee undertakes to return them to the Group, upon leaving
the employment with the Group.

Failure by any employee to comply with this confidentiality
obligation may lead to disciplinary action, and in serious cases
will be treated as gross misconduct. Special care should also be
taken in the use of any personal data, including employees and
customers’ personal data.

The Group strictly follows the laws and regulations relating
to product responsibility. During the reporting period, to the
best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any
significant non-compliance case in this regard.
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Anti-corruption

Honesty, integrity and fair competition are the core values that
all employees of the Group should uphold. The Group’s Code
of Conduct sets out the employee’s conducts in dealing with
matters related to acceptance and offer of advantages, conflicts
of interest, misuse of official position, company assets and
information. All new employees receive an introduction about
anti-corruption, and the code of conduct is communicated to all
of them.

Other than the internal anti-bribery and corruption guidelines
as stipulated in the Code of Conduct, the Group has in
place an anti-fraud policy to provide guidelines for fraud risk
evaluation, anti-fraud measures, handling of suspected fraud
and fraud identification. In addition, a whistleblowing policy has
been established as a communication channel for employees
to report concerns relating to ethical business or personal
conduct, accounting and financial matters, integrity and other
misconduct, or maltreatment by other staff members after
making a genuine complaint. Employees are welcome to send
their concerns via mail or email. The Group will initiate the
investigation procedure after receiving a report. The Group has
also implemented appropriate and effective internal controls at
different business processes to prevent and detect fraudulent
activities.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong
Kong, including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. During
the reporting period, to the best of Directors’ knowledge,
the Group was not involved in any material non-compliant
incident or material litigation, prosecution, disciplinary actions
or complaints relating to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or
money laundering.
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Community

Community Investment

The Group believes that community contribution is essential for
sustainable development as it helps to establish a harmonious
society. The Group aims to develop long-term relations with
stakeholders based on mutual trust, respect and integrity.
The Group also seeks to make contributions to programmes
which have a positive impact on different areas of community
development (such as labour needs, youth education and social
needs). Employees are encouraged to volunteer and work
through collaboration with strategic giving as well as capacity-
building initiatives to try and create a positive impact in the
community. The Group was awarded the “Caring Company
Logo” for three consecutive years.

Caring for the Neighbourhood

As our construction projects can be a nuisance to the
surrounding environment, we recognise the importance of
maintaining good relations with the local community near our
project sites.

We are proactive in communicating with the local community to
understand and respond to their concerns. The local community
has also recognised our efforts. As COVID-19 was running
rampant during the reporting period, we distributed anti-
pandemic supplies with Tsz Lok Estate Residents’ Association to
the residents.

Contribution to Society

During the reporting period, the Group donated and supported
HK$144,000 (2019/2020: HK$212,600) as well as contributed
37.5 hours (2019/2020: 135.5 hours) for charities. The details as
follows:
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Resource
Contributed
BEREIR
Money contribution
(HKD)/Activity
Event hours (hrs)
BR(ER),
EE) TEEN AR ()
Donation for Child Development Matching RERREONVESTHASERE $10,000.0
Fund 10th Anniversary, HRERERYESEIRE A GBS 10,000.07% 7T
organised by Child Development Matching
Fund Limited
Sponsorship for Maggie's Cancer Caring Centre  $#BEEBEHR LR AFEBMEEZSHEARA $60,000.0
and AIA Group Charity Golf Day 2021, 2021%8f - 60,000.078 7T
organised by Maggie Keswick Jencks Cancer MEEYF R REEETR L ESBR A TAM
Caring Centre Foundation Limited
Donation for Lo Pan Temple Emergency BB RSEISER $5,000.0
Maintenance, BmAESBIEN ZAEE 5,000.0% 7T
organised by Hong Kong Lo Pan Kwong Yuet
Tong
Donation for TWGHs Flag Day 2020, RE=PrEE H20208% $3,000.0
organised by Tung Wah Group of Hospitals MR =P AR 4% 3,000.0/8 7T
Sponsorship for TWGHs Charity Golf RE-GEETHARSERESRELL $20,000.0
Tournament at Hong Kong Golf Club, FR AR EE = Br AR A% 20,000.07 7T
organised by Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
Donation for Flag Day 2020, 2020 EEERBR - $10,000.0
organised by The Hong Kong Society for the mESEATESAL 10,000.0% 7T
Blind
Donation for HKCA SME — Construction ERBREESR/ LA~ $10,000.0
Industry Meal Distribution Campaign, BEFRSEARTEHER 10,000.07& 7T
organised by The Hong Kong Construction HAESRENSAREESARQAER
Association Charity Fund Limited
Donation for Construction Industry Caring BEXNERESTHE_RERIBI $20,000.0
Campaign for Fight against NCP Ph.2, HASERENSRSESARARAL 20,000.0/8 7T
organised by The Hong Kong Construction
Association Charity Fund Limited
Youth Work Explorer (Y-WE) Program 2020, Y-WEEFAERA -T2 EIEEERTE/2020 - $1,000.0
organised by Child Development Initiative BB DFEERED R EA 1,000.07%& 7T
Alliance 37.5 hours
37 .5/
Sponsorship for 65th Anniversary of The Hong EREABESSCAF ALK RS ERIEE $5,000.0
Kong Society for the Blind — Movie Premiere By 5,000.0% 7T

“Septet: The Story of Hong Kong”,
organised by The Hong Kong Society for the
Blind

mEEEAHS A
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B

HERER®RE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING IRiE - HEREARHREIESIAT R

GUIDE INDEX

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(KPls) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

Page number

TEHGE  BH - —REERBEREERIERGED B HiR
Subject Area A. Environmental
TEHERARE
Aspect AT Emissions
EBEIATHAY)
General Disclosure  Information on: Environmental 73-81
(a) the policies; and Management; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Emissions
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— MR EE BREERSOREREEEIN - MK EHAES - AER REEE - LB 73-81
BERBRVNELSTH
a) BUR &
(b) BTHETABERVENERERRAMNER
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data Emissions 75-81
BIRERIEIRATY BERIER RABR B EE R 75-81
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, Emissions 77-78
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)
BRERIERAL2  ORERBEVNE CAMEH R(ER)ZE (MR EFEL  HFEY 77-78

KPI'A1.3

AR B BUEBIEA1.3

KPI'A1.4

FARARUEIRALA

KPI'A1.5

BASAEAIEIRATS
KPI A1.6

BREMIEIRALSL

EE£ - BHEKE)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

FREEL R SRE MRS (LANERT) K (0@
fUEE - FHERME)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

PREEHE = RE YA S (DANERT) Ko (40
fEE - BHRME)

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and
results achieved

o U PR R 2 A5 BE R FT S AR

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved

HiEIE A EREEEYH A
FIESIRES

R EE(MATE

R EE(MASE

TR E R G K

No significant

Not applicate

hazardous wastes

produced.

WEELEAFE
) ©

Emissions

e

Emissions

B

Emissions

e

BIZRBRAF

NE A

79

79
75-81
75-81

78-79

78-79
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(KPIs) (Note 1)

TREE  EE - —REERBRERER(MEED

Section/Statement

BEHHm

Page number
EON

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

JEETA2EJR(E FH

General Disclosure

— AR R

KPI A2.1

SR I IR A2. 1

KPI' A2.2

RASEAE UEBIEA2.2
KPI A2.3

RASIENIEIRA2.3
KPI A2.4

RS A IR IRA2.4

KPI' A2.5

BRI IBIRA2.5

Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials

BRERER(BIEIR - KREMRERME) K

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in "000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

REREDNEELR SHEEREEE(NES KR
Al - TEREUATF))RBE(MASELES -
FIRFRME)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility)

BRKELRTE(WMAGEUES - BIARMET)
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and
results achieved

R BE IR 8 A R = T 8 TS AR
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved

F8 3t SR ERGE A KR R B R RE
B SSIEEIES

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced

SR mATAEEM R EE (UABEET) R (EA) 4 E
BREE

WA R BTt Rk e
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(KPIs) (Note 1)

TREE - EE - —REERBRERER(HE)

Section/Statement

B Hm

Page number
AR

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEASRTERANEN

General Disclosure

—ARIEE

KPI'A3.1

RSB IR RAS.T

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources

BIEBETAHRERRAERENERT ENBER

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

ML ERDERENRRERNEATERERNE
BEBZENTH

Subject Area B. Social

TEHBEB LS

Employment and Labour Practice

BEMEBTER

Aspect BT Employment

JEEIBTIENE

General
Disclosure*

— R BE

KPI B1.1

A SR 4E B IEB1.1
KPI B1.2

BB RIERB1.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

BRAHI N R E BB RET - TERE BRY - %

e Zib - REERAREMEFS KBNS

@ B% : &

(b) BTHBEITABERPENEMERRROINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

RIS EEER - FicERI bR S D e E S B

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

RIER - FlcAR MBS D RBRKLE -

Environmental

73-74; and

Management; and 84
The Environment

and Natural
Resources

RIBEE  MIRER 7374 &

RAER

The Environment
and Natural
Resources

RERRRER

Employment

Employment

(A

Employment

’1%

BIZRBRAF

84

84

84

85-89

85-89

89

89
89

89
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(KPIs) (Note 1)

TREE  EE - —REERBRERER(MEED

Section/Statement

BEHHm

Page number
EON

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

BEB2EFER ZE
General
Disclosure

— R

KPI B2.1
R IERIEIRB2.1
KPI B2.2
Mg AENIE1RB2.2
KPI B2.3

RS AE IS 1RB2.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BERRMZE2THERRENREESREBETEEN -

@ B%: &

(b) BTHETABERTENBRERLRPINES -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities

B TVERR R M SE T8 A B tE 3

Lost days due to work injury

RIBELRTIERR

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored

RORPTER AR B R IR 2 24556 - ANAABRITRE
RITA

Aspect B3 Development and Training

B B3R RI5 |

General
Disclosure

— R

KPI B3.1

RS AENIETRB3.1
KPI B3.2

RASE4E IEIEBR3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities

BRI ES BT TIERE O MBI - it
EINES

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category

MR RESERBSNKIEEASL

The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category

RIERIREBERIE D - BREBTHEIIE
TR
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EERZ2
Health and Safety
BERLZE
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RERZE
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R M IE

Development and
Training

R M IE
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R M IET

90-94

90-94

93-94
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90-94

90-94
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95-96

96

96
96
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Section/Statement

HERER®RE

Page number

TELGE  BH - —REERBEEEVEEMED BE =P/
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
[BEB4%S TERY
General Disclosure  Information on: Labour Standards 97
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child or forced labour.
— AR BRI IEE Taioa ]85 TH) - & TR 97
@ BER: M
(b) B rH BT AR ERTENBERLIROINER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards 97
practices to avoid child and forced labour
BIRAERUERBAT ARG IREE PR e AR R B T RIS T 8 T AR 97
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices No case discovered. Not applicable
when discovered
BRARIERBA2 RAEZERRRBEREERE RIS TR 8 REIREZR - TE A
Operating Practices
EEED
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
[BEIBSH EHEE T
General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of ~ Supply Chain 98-99
supply chain Management
— AR ERHEENRE RS RRIER HEEER 98-99
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region Supply Chain 99
Management
BIREMIEIEB5.1 MR EISHEEEA HrEgEER 99
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain 98-99
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management
are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored
BRAENIEEBS.2 AAEMERHMERNIED - MERTERENNHE HrEEER 98-99
BHE - ARBREDNRTRERIDE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(KPIs) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

Page number

TELE  BH - —REEREEEVEE D EH, HR
Aspect Bé Product Responsibility
JEEIB6E o & (F
General Disclosure  Information on: Product 99-101
(a) the policies; and Responsibility
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
— AR EE BREPRHERMBBNRELRLZ S - B - B8N EmEE 99-101
BEEURBRT AN
(a) BUE « %
(b) BTHBEITABERVENEMERRRDINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject Not applicable Not applicable
to recalls for safety and health reasons
BIREMIEIEB6.1 D ENCEXEMAE T ER S EEREEHmAR K NER TEA
Episd
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints Not applicable Not applicable
received and how they are dealt with
BIRENIERB6.2 BN EM MR HIRFBE AR EE T TER A
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Not applicable Not applicable
protecting intellectual property rights
FREIIERB6.3 it EE RSB EE B RNES TE A TE A
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Product 99-100
procedures Responsibility
PASHEMIEIRBS.4  WHILEERERE MERCDIERF EmAT 99-100
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Product 101
policies, how they are implemented and monitored Responsibility
BRERIEREBS  HIUHEEERMRERALEIRE - A RBRERTR EmEE 101

BERIE
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I,a iﬁ,

Section/Statement

HERERBRE

Page number

TREE - EE - —REERBRERER(HE) B, =P/
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption
JEEB7RE)S
General Disclosure  Information on Anti-corruption 102
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
— R ﬁ%ﬁ%‘iﬂﬁﬁ% CBR - BRFROEERER k&R 102
a) K+ R
b) BT #HIT ABBEARZ ERERER LR DI E R -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt No case discovered Not applicable

RAS 4B IR 1RBT .1

KPI B7.2

RABE4E NIEIERT .2

Community

ey

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases

RERAAHETASAEERETEEENETH
EHMEE MFRER

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored

TP IR R B RIR T - U RBBRITRERE

N

2

Aspect B8 Community Investment

JEEBSIE IR E

General Disclosure

—ARIEE

KPI B8.1

RASEAE IR 1RB8.

KPI B8.2

RASEAE 215 157B8.2

Note 1:

All general disclosures and KPls under “Subject Area A. Environmental” are “comply

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration
the communities’ interests.

BN RSB ER T HET NS EMTILESEMER
HEBEBHEEBLRFZEABUR o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)

ErEREE(WEE
it 8858)

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area

EEIBEMBAER(NSENERH)

CBRIEEE  BIFR BE- X

or explain” provisions while others are recommended disclosures set out in the ESG

Guide.

REIRERE TEA
Anti-corruption 102
k&S 102
Community 103
Investment
HERE 103
Community 103-104
Investment
HERE 103-104
Community 103-104
Investment
HEEE 103-104
MiEEl . PTA—MRBBERIEZHEBARR | BEAMMEEN
ER D[ NETRERE A - MEMRRE  HER
EnmEEEI T ER R -
BIZERERLT  F#2020/2021 11



. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB E

EY:

To the shareholders of Wecon Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wecon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 121 to 211, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “"Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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BARELEE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRESLSER

Accounting for construction contracts

BREENHEHEE

HRELSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERTENAEERRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's
revenue and costs recognised for construction
contracts amounted to approximately HK$990.8
million and HK$949.3 million, respectively.

HE2021F3831HILEE © SEBMEBEAHERR
W M AR B4 A990.8 B BB T N94A9.3EEB T ©

The Group's revenue from construction contracts
is recognised over time using the output method,
based on direct measurement of the value transferred
by the Group to the customers with reference to the
certified value of work performed up to the end of
the reporting period and the estimated total revenue
for the contracts entered into by the Group. The
Group's contract costs are recognised when work is
performed, together with any provision for onerous

contract.
AR ESERBERBERSHRE THKIIENRIE

B BEREERITAQZMEHAKREMERTERPZ
BEMNEEE X EEENEERANKRENRAE L
EHEREETE o BERENGHOKARETILERER
ERIEREOBREFLER -
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We performed the following procedures in relation to
the recognition of revenue and costs for construction
contracts:

BMERITUATEF - AEREZES QRS MR

e performing analysis of revenue, gross profit
trend and their fluctuations, and cost structure
of construction contracts;

o Yz ENBBRERE - AREES DA
BEETON

e understanding and evaluating the Group's
process and control over contract revenue and
contract cost recognition and budget estimation;

o  THEYHE BEREHANKENARARERA
RIER EETHYRAE RIEH]

e testing the calculation of the revenue and profit
recognised from construction contracts;

o AIFBESH RIS s HEE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BRELSE

Accounting for construction contracts (continued)

BEENHETEE (E)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

BREGEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERTENMEERRELSER

The Group's revenue and costs for contract works
are quantitatively significant to the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
recognition of contract revenue and profit relies on
management's estimate of the final outcome of each
contract, which involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, particularly in forecasting
the costs to complete a contract, in valuing contract
variations, claims and potential liquidated damages
and in estimating the provision for onerous contract.

BEEENGHNTIRESMKAYE BRERGMBRE
EEMSBEREEA MaNBEarBRERE
BEEHEANRKERNMAE - ﬁiﬁ&fﬂﬁijﬁ‘:ﬁ%
b - TESRBTKRAHKA - EFFARER - BR R
BERTREREEE  ULEFEESORE -

The accounting policies, accounting judgements
and estimates and disclosures for the recognition
of revenue from construction contracts are included
in notes 3, 4, 6 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRAREEAOMBWREm SRR - ST HE &A
AHAR BRSNS M B RARMES 4 617 -

e checking if the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation
agreed with the customers’ latest architect
certificates;

s REURBRHNARETEEZE=E2MEMNERRETEFPRINE

EMEERT B

e discussing with management and the respective
project teams about the progress of major
projects and the estimates and assumptions
adopted in the forecast of contract costs,
including estimated costs to completion,
assessment of potential liquidated damages
for major contracts and provision for onerous
contract;

e HEEELZHAAERNWIZEBENERIBR
AR FER & MR PTER M 5T R RR - BRRT
MR - TERONEBEE TIRERENESRE

B A B ERTHE

e checking the supporting documents of the
budgets on a sampling basis, which included
sub-contracting contracts, material purchase
contracts and price quotations; and

o MBS AZHBEENERANMF  EBESEE
#) - MRHRBA O RRE &

op

e comparing last year's budget against current
year's budget or actual costs incurred for major
contracts on a sampling basis.

o MBS AREFNREERAFENAEXETES
HWELNBEBRKAETHER
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

ESRAREMBRRARENER
(4)

ERBSEMBHRERE - ERREFAR
Aty BERBEREKENRES  YEERB
MTIEEESELEERNER  URER
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B BEREBRAFILLE  SHRIEEM
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

118

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF BB BERESHBHRRAKIEN
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =1{E(4£&)
(continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this HERBIZHBAHRENETEEEZARE

independent auditor’s report is Wong Sau Pik. HEE o

Ernst & Young RAKEEEER
Certified Public Accountants BT

27/F, One Taikoo Place 55

979 King's Road 8l =0m

Quarry Bay REBEITIR
Hong Kong AN —RE2718
25 June 2021 20216 A 25H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

'

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEaEmRAMEERAR

Year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021FE3R31HILFE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BsE FHT FHBT
REVENUE Wz 6 1,103,157 1,204,001
Cost of sales HE KR (1,047,756) (1,099,388)
GROSS PROFIT EF 55,401 104,613
Other income and gains H A R e 6 14,131 6,676
Administrative and other operating TTE R EM &Ly - F58
expenses, net (48,519) (50,579)
Finance costs B SRk AR 7 (199) (359)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBEATE R 8 20,814 60,351
Income tax FTig®i 11 (1,572) (9,855)
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE ZARERIEEABLER
INCOME FOR THE YEAR mAREEKABALE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 19,242 50,496
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE Z2 Sl#EziEHE AEL
TO EQUITY HOLDERS BRER
OF THE COMPANY 13
— Basic and diluted - ZAYSE: D HK2.4 cents HK6.3 cents
2.45%4l 637811l

BIZRERAFA
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. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBARR R

31 March 2021

20213H31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB NERE 14 8,148 8,726
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 7,584 7,809
Financial asset at fair value through BARETABZES
profit or loss CREE 16 2,150 -
Prepayments, deposits and other TARROE - Re RkEM
receivables FEW IR 18 5,379 6,331
Total non-current assets FRBEEHRE 23,261 22,866
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Contract assets and trade receivables EHEENE S EWNFIE 17 260,376 334,727
Prepayments, deposits and other TBRRIE -« e RHEM
receivables FEM R IE 18 21,295 44,795
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEAEEN
profit or loss EREE 16 17,452 =
Tax recoverable Al Uk B F 18 7,997 =
Pledged deposits B ER 19 42,193 31,873
Time deposits FEHFER 19 5,109 105,726
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHEH 19 120,639 35,047
Total current assets REEEAE 475,061 552,168
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and retention payables B O RENFIERENRE S 20 143,758 183,206
Other payables and accruals HAb R FIB R ERTE A 21 68,166 105,574
Lease liabilities HEARE 15 3,344 4,994
Tax payable FERTER IR - 369
Total current liabilities REBREAE 215,268 294,143
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 259,793 258,025
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBEE
LIABILITIES 283,054 280,891
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE MBI &
31 March 2021
20214E3H31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBERE 22 728 814
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 1,311 2,108
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBERE 2,039 2,922
NET ASSETS BEEZRE 281,015 277,969
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity holders RATEZEFEA
of the Company FE{EREES
Issued capital BEITIRA 23 8,000 8,000
Reserves Gl 24 273,015 269,969
Total equity R 281,015 277,969
Tsang Ka Yip Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry
BRE B
Director Director
BE EZE
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. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

f n‘l_\é*g ﬁ_ﬁ @ E}J '13—‘%

Year ended 31 March 2021

BZE2021F3A3MBIEFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KARREREAER
Shares held
Issued Share Merger  under share Retained Total
capital premium* reserve*  award plan* profits* equity
R
e -
BERTRE ROEE*  AHEE ARG REEN fER
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it TARL TARL TARL TART TARL TARL
(note 24()))  (note 24(ii))
(MzE240))  (BireE24(ii)
At 1 April 2019 R201954A18 8,000 103,167 18,900 - 108,606 238,673
Profit and total comprehensive FEREHRZERA
income for the year k] - - - - 50,496 50,496
Final 2019 dividend declared BERKRE019ERE 12 = (11,200) = = = (11,200)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 #2020%€37318 &
2020547818 8,000 91,967 18,900 - 159,102 277,969
Profit and total comprehensive ERFFREERA
income for the year kel = = = = 19,242 19,242
Final 2020 dividend declared BERARE2020FRE 12 = (15,200) = = = (15,200)
Purchase of shares held under BERERHREE
share award plan FrEERD 24(ii) - - - (996) - (996)
At 31 March 2021 M2021E3A318 8,000 76,767 18,900 (996) 178,344 281,015

© These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$273,015,000 (2020: * %ﬁﬁﬂ&@ﬁﬁé%iﬁ#%%ﬂ'gﬁéﬁﬁzn,ms,oooiﬁ
HK$269,969,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. JC(2020%F : 269,969,000 T) °

124 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020/2021



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

'

= A A —|
= EE%)}ILE%%
Year ended 31 March 2021
BZ20213A3NALEE

2021 2020
20214 20206
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FTET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEHABESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BB R A 20,814 60,351
Adjustments for: EFEE
Finance costs IR DN 199 359
Interest income F B WA 6 (1,592) (4,818)
Other income E A (28) 9)
Fair value gain on financial assets at BRAREFABRZHSH
fair value through profit or loss, net BEZARERS
R (601) =
Foreign exchange gain B 34 W (3) -
Depreciation of property, plant W - BERRETE
and equipment 2,640 2,663
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 4,900 3,230
Loss on disposal of items of property,  H&EWE - BE L& E
plant and equipment HE 2 E#E 94 4
Impairment of contract assets ARNEERE 122 232
Impairment of trade receivables Z ZREYGRIERE 11 24
26,556 62,036
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets ~ AXEEKE 5 EWFIE
and trade receivables (35 hn) 74,218 (88,964)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and B[ 5E » #&d R E R
other receivables FIE R A 24,748 2,278
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B S RNFIERENIRE S
retention payables CR), /10 (39,448) 64,311
Decrease in other payables and accruals EAbfES FRIB R ERTE R
D (37,408) (18,449)
Cash generated from operations KRETEFFTRIRE 48,666 21,212
Interest portion of lease payments HERNKF LD (153) (198)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERBEAERNEH (10,024) (17,097)
Net cash flows from operating activities A& & EEFTFR S MEFRE 38,489 3,917
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
II‘/j—\ Eﬁzﬁ/ﬂbii‘%

Year ended 31 March 2021

BZE2021F3A31RIEFE
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B s THET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBRERSRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B UFE 1,592 4,818
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYXE  WEIZEESR
and equipment (4,175) (6,365)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BERXEER
property, plant and equipment ZFT1S5RIE 540 119
Receipt of a government grant for WERZE - B R aRiE 2
property, plant and equipment IR T i B 1,183 =
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BBEZ AR BT AEBZEN
through profit or loss CREE (18,998) -
Increase in pledged deposits AR FRIE N (10,320) (11,360)
Net cash flows used in investing REZBARERE
activities R (30,178) (12,788)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BhESEE TS RE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FERITER 106,000 56,000
Repayment of bank loans BEREFITER (106,000) (66,000)
Purchase of shares held under share B IR B AR EN T &
award plan ESE=liken) 24(ii) (996) -
Interest paid BEFIE (46) (167)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRAEE S (7,094) (3,306)
Dividends paid AR B (15,200) (11,200)
Net cash flows used in financing BMEREFARSE
activities mE 5 (23,336) (24,667)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HE&RBESZEY
EQUIVALENTS WD FE (15,025) (33,538)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#31 % kRS FEY
of year 140,773 174,311
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S XBEERRLZEY
END OF YEAR 125,748 140,773
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2021

BE202143A31R L FE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B s FERT FAET
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH  EB&RBE&ZEWAL
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Z o
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTEH 19 120,639 35,047
Non-pledged time deposits with original PR ERRIER DR
maturity of less than three months =B A &Y FEE AR
when acquired 7 BT R 19 5,109 105,726
Cash and cash equivalents as stated e B R R
in the consolidated statement of RAERERER
financial position and consolidated oz e Kk
statement of cash flows HeEEY 125,748 140,773
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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R 75 #R 2R B

31 March 2021
2021%3H31H

128

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 23 March 2018.
The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong is located at Room 1801-1802, 18/F.,
Tung Hip Commercial Building, 244-252 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Group's subsidiaries were principally engaged
in the provision of building construction and repair,
maintenance, alteration and addition ("RMAA") services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Triple Arch Limited, which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

1. RARAEEER(E)

BB A TR
AAFHBARZ HEMT -

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary share Percentage of equity Principal
Name registration and business capital  attributable to the Company  activities
% EMARL BE#T AREEGERET DL TEEH
R ES S b BERRE
Direct Indirect
B G
Wecon Holdings (BVI) Limited* BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBEIES ordinary REER
(E
]
Wecon Limited Hong Kong HK$2,600,100 - 100 Provision of building
BIBRAR e ordinary construction and
2,600,100 7T maintenance services
gl RUETRER
wERE
Wecon Construction & Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100 Provision of building
Engineering Limited ) ordinary construction services
BIRERERAT 3,200,000/ 7T RUETRERS
TR
RH Studio Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of building
e ordinary information
10,000/ 7T modelling services
E R RUEERESRBRRY
* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst * RRERD S HAERFRE LK eSS
v NG g elae meier TR B prE -
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2.1
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. Profit or loss and each component of
other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

132

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
(early adopted)

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to Definition of Material

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20212

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts*’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current*®
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

U wWN =

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 413

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October

2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

7 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1

January 2023
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to
refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the
previous amendments which affect financial reporting
when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced
with an alternative risk-free rate ("RFR”). The Phase 2
amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting
the carrying amount when accounting for changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence
of the interest rate benchmark reform and the new basis
for determining the contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis immediately preceding
the change. In addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be
made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any
gains or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that
the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to
disclose additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and
risk management strategy. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not
required to restate the comparative information.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

138

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items,
in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they
are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the
contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on
or after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendment is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
[llustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment
of lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAES:EHERME)

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis or
reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item
of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:
Land and buildings Over the shorter of the lease

term and 25 years
Over the lease terms
20% on the reducing balance

Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
basis
Furniture, fixtures and 20% on the reducing balance
basis

20% on the reducing balance

office equipment
Motor vehicles
basis

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leased buildings Over the lease term

Motor vehicles 20% on the reducing balance basis

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAS HEMMEZ)
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) HEE)

Group as a lessee (continued) AREFERABA(E)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (c) HEHEREKEESEHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEEEACHHERARENE
exemption to its short-term leases of offices (that is MA=RBEE(AEESRAERM
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or BB ERI2EAHAT RS E
less from the commencement date and do not contain BEEEBENEE)  KAEBITTER
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition REBEEEERRARENERBEE
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of ENFHEBNTEEES - ZHH
scanners and copiers that are considered to be of low EREREEEEMEZHENKR
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases HERNRBEREERBFX °

of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial assets TREE

Financial assets are initially recognised on the trade date, TRMEERRZB(ASEAEBE
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase the ZEBEZR)VFER - —REBEIIE
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales RR—RMIZRELIEE—EHEA
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the RNEENGHEEEE -

period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and classification of financial assets

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on their contractual cash flow characteristics and
the business model for managing the instruments. Financial
assets are classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) (either with recycling to
profit or loss for debt instruments or without recycling to
profit or loss for equity investments). On initial recognition,
the Group measures a financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financial component that is
initially measured at the transaction price) at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. The transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows

are solely payments of principal and interest.

The measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and classification of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they
meet both of the following conditions and are not
designated as at FVTPL:

e They are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOCI

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of
the following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

e |t is held with a business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

® |ts contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and classification of financial assets

(continued)
Equity investments at FVOCI

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value
in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment by investment basis.

Financial assets at FVTPL

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
This included all derivative financial assets and equity
investments that are held for trading. On initial recognition,
the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets are held for trading when they have been
purchased or issued primarily for short-term profit making
through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of
financial instruments that are managed together, for which
there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit
taking.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at amortised cost

These financial assets (including loans and receivables) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on issued funds, and costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate (“EIR").

Debt investments at FVOCI

Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the Group's right to receive payments
is established unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of investment. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income
and cannot be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at
fair value. Except for derivatives designated as hedging
instruments, changes in fair value are recognised as net
gains or losses in profit or loss. Interest and dividend
income are recognised as other income in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified at FVTPL
if it is held for trading, is a derivative or is designated as
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
measured at fair value with net gains or losses, including
interest expenses, recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expenses and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantees contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) an expected credit
loss (“ECL"); and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Group does not reclassify its financial assets
subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the
exceptional circumstances in which the Group acquires,
disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial
liabilities are never reclassified. The Group did not reclassify
any of its financial assets or liabilities during the year.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability. The difference between the respective carrying
value of the original financial liability and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 requires the Group to record an allowance for
ECLs for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt
instruments measured at FVOCI and contract assets as
defined in HKFRS 15.

The ECL allowance is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to
the asset’s original EIR and other debt securities and bank
balances for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

For all contract assets (defined below) and trade
receivables, the Group has applied HKFRS 9's simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Other financial assets are assessed for impairment based on
12-month ECLs: 12-month ECLs are the portion of lifetime
ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period (or
a shorter period if the expected life of the asset is less than
12 months).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when the
contractual payment day is more than 1.5 years past due. As
the customers of the Group are mainly well-known property
developers, the Government and quasi-Government
organisations and there was no history of default in prior
years, the directors of the Company considered the default
rate is minimal. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Contract assets

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods
or provide services to the customer. A contract asset is
recognised when the Group has the right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer when that right is conditional on
something other than the passage of time (for example,
the Group's future performance). A contract asset becomes
a trade receivable when receipt of the consideration is
conditional only on the passage of time.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets (continued)

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
have substantially the same characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same type of contracts. Impairment
policy for trade receivables as explained above also applies
to contract assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Shares held under share award plan

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

* when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

® in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer for the services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown, net of
discounts. Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring a promised good
or service (that is an asset) to a customer. An asset is
transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of
that asset; and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group's activities on the following bases:

(@) Revenue from construction contracts and RMAA
revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
asset is transferred to the customer.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(@) (continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset
may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

(i) provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

(i) creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

(iii) does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on direct
measurements of the value of individual services
transferred by the Group to the customer, such as
surveys of work performed, or contract milestones.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected
to be recovered.

For the RMAA services under term contracts where
the control of the asset is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

For construction contracts and other RMAA services,
the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
or work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced and thus the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, by reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the work
certified up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of total contract value for each contract.

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Claims to customers

Claims are amounts that the Group seeks to collect from
the customers as reimbursement for costs not included
in the contract price. The measurement of the amounts
of revenue arising from claims is subject to a high level
of uncertainty and often depends on the outcome of
negotiations. Therefore, judgement is made to determine
whether it is probable that the customers will accept the
claims and estimate the amount of claims to be accepted
by the customers in order to recognise such claims as
contract revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts

The Group has primary responsibility to fulfilment of the
contract and quality of the overall work and has discretion
in selecting subcontractors and determining the pricing for
subcontractors. Thus, the Group is acting as the principal
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. The Group's
revenue from construction contracts is recognised over time
using the output method and is measured in accordance
with the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations, which is measured based on
direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group
to the customers with reference to the certified value of
the work performed. The determination of the progress of
the construction service involves judgements. The Group
has quantity surveyors to periodically measure the value
of work performed for each construction project and the
work performed also certified by the customers’ quantity
surveyors.

Budgeted contract costs are prepared by the management
on the basis of contract concluded with and/or quotations
provided by major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved from time to time, the experience of the
management and current market condition. The Group
reviews and revises the estimates of contract costs to
completion, variation orders and contract claims prepared
for each contract work as the contract progresses.
Significant judgement is required in estimating contract
costs to completion, variation works and contract claims
which may have an impact to the total outcome of the
contract and recognition of profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment assessment for trade receivables and contract
assets

The policy for impairment of trade receivables and
contract assets of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectibility and ageing analysis of trade receivables and
contract assets as well as other quantitative and qualitative
information and the management calculated the lifetime
ECLs based on historical credit loss experience, and on
management’s judgement and assessment of the forward-
looking information. Management applied judgement and
estimates in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, based on the current creditworthiness, the
past collection history and subsequent settlements of each
customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, additional provisions may
be required. Further details are disclosed in note 17 to the
financial statements.

WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020/2021

EXRETHE RS (E)

hEr MEER =

RBERR  FEARAREHEERA
BEREEN T —HRFEEELERBE
ZARBEEERR MG T RERER
ZEMEZNIR - WNETAL o

E S ENFHIEREHEERBHEE

AEENE ZRWFARENEERE
BRLVERE ZRBFARENEERN
AT K Bl D AT RHE A R Lt E 2
MEMER MEBEENBEGEES
BEE  UAREEEYHREEER A
b AT A B EREREEEE -
EEEBHEMNMEZSFRIGIA KRR EH
o EERSEEFPHRKEER  BEK
TRAOER N HATR A5 B R A e A 5T o fif
AREFEFHNT A EEMAISHEN
eeS] - RIRIBEFRIE AR - £~
FHER MG MAR M7 -



OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Construction contracts; and
(b) RMAA

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before

tax.

The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with
the Group's profit before tax except that interest income,
government grants, fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, sundry income, loss
on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation (unallocated portion), impairment of contract
assets, impairment of trade receivables, foreign exchange
differences, finance costs and unallocated head office and
corporate expenses, are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, tax
recoverable, pledged deposits, time deposits, cash and
bank balances and other unallocated corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities and other unallocated corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

BIEZERERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB AR TR

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

£ RER

Hxl

n

ARERANME ZIKE HEREE D
EBEM - MERZ2REEDEAOT

HRAREDEEREFEREMNS - &
BEORERANEEZENMEE - D&
RBETIRE A 250 & M (BN ET B &
ABRTADEN) FHE

AR BADE R 2 N BAREH
BREL AT At B R T — B0 R B UL
A BUTH#R - BRAAEFABENE
MEEzAAERS (BE) %A
WA~ HEME - BERREERRB ZE
B ECROERD) BHNEER
B EHRWREE  EXERE M
TSR AN A S R 2 B 4B 8 Ko (R 2 R S BR O
AABENERETEES °

DEEETBDREYE  BERRE - 1%
DRAEFABENSHEE AR
15 - EIHER - EEER - Be RiRT
BERAREMARDECEEE  REAR
ZEEBENBEEHAERE -

DEBETEREENHIE - BEHIRER

BREMARDEEEEE  RESZE
BEAEETAEE -

F$32020/2021 171



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT
(continued)

INFORMATION 5. R&HER(E)

Segment results, assets and liabilities DEEE - EEREE

FE E20214 &20205E3 8318 IEFE
BREAERFEDBREME © ARE
EXrZEBEEASRHNASETZ®
DEEREHINAT o

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the Group's key management personnel for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020
is set out below.

172

Construction contracts RMAA Total
BERY REREBIR it
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 2020F 20214 2020F 20214 2020%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET TR THET TR THT
Segment revenue ok 16
Revenue from external customers KAINIRE 2 Wizs 990,847 968,006 112,310 235995 1,103,157 1,204,001
Segment results AIEE 41,517 75,979 13,884 28,634 55,401 104,613
Interest income A EUA 1,592 4,818
Government grants B RS 9,986 297
Fair value gain on financial assets at AR B ABRENEE
fair value through profit or loss, net ~ BEZ A S Bz
FE 601 -
Sundry income HIBKA 1,949 1,561
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE « HiE k%
plant and equipment HEZER (94) (4)
Depreciation (unallocated portion) HE(RHEED) (7,292) (5,505)
Impairment of contract assets AHNBERE (122) (232)
Impairment of trade receivables B 5N IER A (11) (24)
Foreign exchange differences ERESE 3 )
Finance costs B % Ak 2R (199) (359)
Unallocated head office and corporate K7 B 45 K
expenses rERY (41,000 (44,812)
Profit before tax B AT E R 20,814 60,351
Income tax expense FERREY (1,572) (9,855)
Profit for the year EREF 19,242 50,496
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Construction contracts
BEEH

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000  HK$'000

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR P E

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

REsBER(E)

DEEE  BEEREEE)

okt

RMAA Total
REREBIR &t
2021 2020 2021 2020

20214 20204 20214 20205
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TERT TEL TR TET TERT FEL

Segment assets and liabilities ITHEERAE
Segment assets AHEE 256,799 304,473 28,556 78,855 285,355 383,328
Unallocated RO 212,967 191,706
498,322 575,034
Segment liabilities HEEBE 188,065 236,953 20,376 46,826 208,441 283,779
Unallocated AAHER 8,866 13,286

217,307 297,065

Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group's revenue was generated
from the sales in Hong Kong and over 90% of the Group's
identifiable non-current assets were located in Hong Kong,
no geographical information in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented.

Information about major customers
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for

10% or more of the Group's revenue for each of the years,
is set out below:

hEER

el A7 £ BB O0% ) M 357 1 R B
fieE - LA ERBBO0%H A BRI
RBAERMRES - B EEEES
B 75 90 45 2 B BOIRAT 5 A2 F 0 B
B -

BREEEFNER

REFE  RESEERFP(hAEE NS
10%35 A E Ry s & -

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Customer A BEA 683,607 411,154

Customer B =FB N/A 38 f* 186,685

Customer C ®FEC N/A FER* 178,658

Customer D 25D N/A AiE F* 161,283
* The corresponding revenues from these customers are not disclosed as the * HARZERFNEZE202143A318 IEFERNER

revenue individually did not account for 10% or more of the Group's revenue for
the year ended 31 {/Iarch 2021.

g N ARG A SR B R 10% 3k A | - MO AR R zs
TMEREE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ¥R R i et
31 March 2021
20214 3A31H
6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WKk EMBAR WS
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REEHWRRAITIAT -
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHNNE
Construction contracts BEAY 990,847 968,006
RMAA KERBETRR 112,310 235,995
1,103,157 1,204,001
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHNNKRE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information () WamsHEER
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE2021F3A3MBLFE
Construction
Segments contracts RMAA Total
N BEEHN HEREBIRE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FERT
Type of services AR5 % 5l
Construction services EERE 990,847 - 990,847
RMAA KENGETRE - 112,310 112,310
Total revenue from contracts with RERF A& LM EKES
customers 990,847 112,310 1,103,157
Timing of revenue recognition W 25 e R AR P
Over time — R 990,847 34,577 1,025,424
Point in time R - 77,733 77,733
Total revenue from contracts with REZRF A LRI
customers 990,847 112,310 1,103,157
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6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WEREMIWARKE(Z)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

(i) a7 EEH (&)
B E20209F3A31BILFE

Construction

Segments contracts RMAA Total
pan:i BESH REREEIRE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Type of services PR % 38 5l
Construction services BRE R 968,006 - 968,006
RMAA KERGETR - 235,995 235,995
Total revenue from contracts with K B &F A £ RAINE
customers 968,006 235,995 1,204,001
Timing of revenue recognition Wi 1 R B
Over time — R 968,006 41,174 1,009,180
Point in time H R BS - 194,821 194,821
Total revenue from contracts with K B & F A LM LAIRES
customers 968,006 235,995 1,204,001

Performance obligations

For the construction contracts and RMAA services
using the output method, the construction and
refurbishment of buildings is a single performance
obligation that the Group satisfies over time. The
construction period varies from 1.5 years to 3 years.
As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining obligation
was HK$1,185,703,000 (2020: HK$1,655,118,000), and
the Group will recognise this revenue in future when
the buildings are completed, which are expected to
occur over the next 12 to 36 months.

(i) BHRIEF

BERBEENEESOREE
R#EIRERBEMES  EFRE
ERBTALAEETHRENTD
BE-—BHET  BEHAISE
E3IERE - R2021%E38318 » o
REHTBRAONEEHXHER
#8%851,185,703,0007%8 7T (20204 :
1,655,118,0007T) + NEE R E
FRIETH R (FBEARK12E36(E
AR ERE B -
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20214F3A31H

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WKk EAMUARKE(E)
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFESHMNKE(E)
(i) Performance obligations (continued) (i) JBRIE(E)
For the RMAA services under term contracts, the E‘JEEHHI:,\’]Tﬁﬁ”tflkﬁfﬁflklﬁﬂﬁ
performance obligation is satisfied upon the transfer BMs @ BHARBETREREEET
of control of the asset. The Group applies the practical ERET - AEEEREEM KR
expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and does not HEBFISHBI121ROAIITEE
disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated 7% BUERBESEZR TR
to the remaining performance obligations for contracts A HRA—FHATHENELD
with an original expected duration of one year or less. BEENRSEREHE -
Other income and gains H At g A K U 23
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
Interest income arising from loans to  E£BRHETH BEMERKERT
subcontractors and bank deposits TR E A 1,592 4,818
Government grants* R4 Bk 9,986 297
Fair value gain on financial assets at AR BT ABZNERMEEL
fair value through profit or loss, net AR EWE @ /F5E 601 =
Foreign exchange gain b 5 s 3 -
Sundry income FHEUA 1,949 1,561
14,131 6,676
*  During the year ended 31 March 2021, government grants mainly represented * BF0213A3NAILEE  BABEEEEK
ARl R e e 59 0008 A S e ko 03
amount of HK$864,000 received under Employment Support Scheme for the R TR T E149864,000/8 7T © ZEHHAE
Construction Sector for casual employees from the Construction Industry I R R R AR R o
Council. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies related to these
grants.
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAEERA
An analysis of the Group's finance costs is as follows: REBNFERADFTT
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHETT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEHFE 46 161
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERE 153 198
199 359
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

8. ERBLmIRF

AEBBRBADEN TG, GEA) T3

(crediting): FIAKETE ¢
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FTHET FAT
Depreciation of property, plant WME - BELREITE
and equipment 2,640 2,663
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {& S EHTE 15(a) 4,900 3,230
Auditor's remuneration 1,250 1,200
Employee benefit expense EBERFMEZ (T
(excluding directors’ B (F5E9)):
remuneration (note 9)):*
Wages and salaries 86,757 86,434
Pension scheme contributions RIR B TSR
(defined contribution scheme) (FEREEFETED) 3,403 3,402
90,160 89,836
Lease payments not included Tt AEaGEFEY
in the measurement of lease
liabilities 747 2,664
Other charges in respect of rental BETFEWE 2 Lk E
premises 266 237
Loss on disposal of items of ¥ BEKEZEEE
property, plant and equipment i 94 4
Foreign exchange differences 3) 2
Impairment of contract assets AHNEERE 17 122 232
Impairment of trade receivables & 5 EWFTERE 17 24
Provision/(write-back) for legal FEEBRANRE
fees and claims** Pt (1m] )+ (700) 1,367

* The employee benefit expense included in cost of sales was HK$68,380,000 (2020:

HK$69,173,000).

o Amounts are included in “Administrative and other operating expenses, net” on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

* 5t A 85 & P 7R 8 8 B 48 M 5 32 568,380,000/ 7T
(20204 : 69,173,000 7T) °

> SHEEHABRERREMBEEARARZIITER
Hip e ps I -
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31 March 2021

20214F3A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESTHAEEM
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, B FR A - B A RIEME383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), @ - (b) QORMERAT(HEEEF
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and SOBEN IR BB R AN RS
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about BESTRABEHHMT -

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Fees =] 560 560
Other emoluments: Hofth S
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMEREYET
in kind 3,510 3,510
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAT 690 2,000
Pension scheme contributions RINESFHEIEE
(defined contribution scheme) (% %ET#\#\;#EJ) 275 263
4,475 5,773
5,035 6,333
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHFITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors ERNDABIIEHITESHEE N
during the year were as follows: T
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Dr. Lau Chi Keung 2R E+ 180 180
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond PR NI St A 180 180
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel JiEEIESpe 200 200
560 560
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAGERNEIIFNTESENHE
independent non-executive directors during the year MBS (20204 : &) o
(2020: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EEEK

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

Salaries,
allowances

and benefits

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) MITESRESITRAER

Discretionary

Pension

scheme

P e e

31 March 2021

20213 A31H
BETBRABHM(E)

Total

Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
& BAK EiE
EH BMEF BETEAL B FMRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER FHET FHET FHET FHET
2021 20214F
Executive directors: WITEE
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip* DR - 1,950 345 162 2,457
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip BRETAE = 910 207 59 1,176
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry TR S A - 650 138 54 842
- 3,510 690 275 4,475
2020 20205
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip* BRE S = 1,950 1,000 162 3,112
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip ERT it - 910 600 59 1,569
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry LR AE = 650 400 42 1,092
- 3,510 2,000 263 5,773

*

of the Company.

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip is the executive director and the chief executive officer

There was no arrangement under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year (2020: Nil).

BIZRERAFA

* RREAERARANMTERRITRER

RERBEEEHEXFRBRELM
i 2 ZHE(20205F « fE) o
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B R 3R 2R M EE
31 March 2021
20214F3A31H
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10. EE&EFHAL
The five highest paid employees during the year ended 31 HZE2021F3A3MBLFE  Ad&E=
March 2021 included one director of the Company (2020: FiEE R AR RN —BEE(2020
two), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 F:WMB) AHFBEFEHN XXM
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four 9o HERPUZ (20205 | =R)FEER
(2020: three) non-director and non-chief executive highest EESITRAEZSHFMEENRFRZ
paid employees for the year are as follows: FFISETIT
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Salaries, housing allowances, other ¥i& + BE28; - M2 K
allowances and benefits in kind BEUEH 7,998 7,31
Pension scheme contributions RS ETEIHR 128 110
8,126 7,421
The number of the non-director and non-chief executive T Ty SEEANIEEERIERSTT
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the BABSSHMES AZHIINT

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEHE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001% 7c 21,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 £ 2 2,500,000/ 7T =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 714 3,000,000/ 7T 2
4
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group FA - AEEWEEFFESERIER
to any of the non-director and non-chief executive highest BITBA B &= % M E 8 X (N ZBIER
paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining 5| AN AZRER B 5 h0 A A 5 (B i ) 22 B
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020: Nil). s e A BB i 2 (20204F « £E)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

11. INCOME TAX 1. e
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands BERSHEREBRLHES ZHRA
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in R0 REEBBEEMFRESEHE X
the Cayman Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has EEBELBESEMMAEN - FEFNE
been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the MR FENEBBEE 2 ERM
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during i A A B % 16.5% (20204F : 16.5%)
the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a STIREE  MAKE B QR
qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime SN HA2018/201 958 1 6 JE A8 A 3L
effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019. The first MEBRMET THEERE R o &M
HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000) of estimated assessable J& X B 2 fl &t & SR 4 1 2,000,000
profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining 7% 7T (20204 : 2,000,000/ 7T ) LA B &
estimated assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. 8.25% UK - i B AR (b 5T FE R B i A
BIPATE = 16.5% B ©
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Current — Hong Kong BNVER— &%
Charge for the year FAXH 1,763 9,826
Overprovision in prior years BT FEBEEE (105) (153)
Deferred (note 22) EIEFRTE (FI5E22) (86) 182
Total tax charge for the year FABIEET W 1,572 9,855
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit RAEMERAE 2 BRT AT 3 A &
before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the MIEX HERER MG E 2 HIAX
effective tax rate is as follows: HEVEERIAT
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Profit before tax BB AT A 20,814 60,351
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEBERFENTIE 3,434 9,958
Concession under the two-tiered rates  — IR NEE R (165) (165)
Income not subject to tax fEARNTR IR A (1,932) (480)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 353 706
Adjustments in respect of current tax of % @7k EARSHI BN EARI 18
previous periods (105) (153)
Tax losses not recognised RERTIBEE 14 =
Others A (27) (11)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax BAEE BRI EKFTER
rate IR 1,572 9,855
BIEZERERAT  F32020/2021 181



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS R AR ML
31 March 2021
20214F3H31H
12. DIVIDENDS 12. BE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Final dividend in respect of the previous FWE E—8BUF ERE
financial year paid during the year — BB — B @mAR 1.9
HK1.9 cents (2020: HK1.4 cents) (2020% : 1.47%10)
per ordinary share 15,200 11,200
Proposed final dividend — BRAHRE -—SREBR
HK1.2 cents (2020: HK1.9 cents) 1.2/801(2020%F : 1.97&1)
per ordinary share 9,600 15,200

13.

182

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company's shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. These financial statements do not
reflect the final dividend payable.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company of HK$19,242,000 (2020: HK$50,496,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
798,648,153 (2020: 800,000,000) in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation for the year ended 31 March 2021 is
the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as
adjusted to reflect the number of shares held under share
award plan of 5,304,000 (2020: Nil) of the Company.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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FRZHBRBRBAFTARRBIRNIE
ERRIBEARNS LH/ERTAEER - %
FEAH AR I B R AR A R AR R,

AT EBRFEABGERER

HESREABAN 2 SBIHERAEAQE
=5 A ABIEFRE 19,242,000
75 (20204 : 50,496,0005 7T ) A R & A
B 31T I3 AR h0 7 - 39 20798,648,153
A% (20204 : 800,000,0000% ) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B SRR M EE
31 March 2021
20213 A31H
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - BERREE
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Land and Leasehold and and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
HE FE £ER
T REP NEEE  BERRE W% AE &t

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TiEn T TR AT AT AT

31 March 2021 2021%3A31A
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020: R202053R318 %
202054518 :

Cost A 900 3,648 2,214 6,804 4,282 17,848

Accumulated depreciation 2:TE (900) (2,581) (753) (2,405) (2,483) (9.122)

Net carrying amount FEFE - 1,067 1,461 4,399 1,799 8,726
At 1 April 2020, net of R202054A18

accumulated depreciation REHTE = 1,067 1,461 4,399 1,799 8,726
Additions NE = = 872 807 1,017 2,696
Disposals L& - - - - (634) (634)
Depreciation provided for the year FRTERE = (985) (369) (910) (376) (2,640)
At 31 March 2021, net of 72021348318

accumulated depreciation HRHINE - 82 1,964 4,296 1,806 8,148
At 31 March 2021: 2021837318 ¢

Cost AR 900 3,648 3,086 7,611 3,563 18,808

Accumulated depreciation 2:TE (900) (3,566) (1.122) (3:315) (1,757) (10,660)

Net carrying amount REFE - 82 1,964 4,296 1,806 8,148
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

14. 1% - BERRE(E)

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Land and Leasehold and and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
e KB RER
THREF NEREE  EHRRE HARE RE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FE TET TAT FET TET
31 March 2020 2020634318
At 1 April 2019: 201954R18
Cost A 900 1432 1,382 4,101 4.0 12,036
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (900) (1432) (490) (1,570) (2.497) (6,889)
Net carrying amount REEE - - 892 2,531 1,724 5,147
At 1 April 2019, net of 1201954R18 -
accumulated depreciation HEE - - 892 2,531 1,724 5,147
Additions E - 2,216 832 2,703 614 6,365
Disposals HE - - - - (123) (123)
Depreciation provided for the year FRTERE - (1,149) (263) (835) @1) (2,663)
At 31 March 2020, net of R2020%3A318
accumulated depreciation REFIE = 1,067 1,461 4,399 1799 8,726
At 31 March 2020: R2020F3A318 :
Cost XA 900 3,648 2214 6,804 4,282 17,848
Accumulated depreciation ZitheE (900) (2,581) (753) (2,405) (2,483) (9,122)
Net carrying amount REFE - 1,067 1,461 4,399 1,799 8,726

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was
granted a government grant of HK$1,479,000 (2020: Nil)
related to purchase of certain items of machinery and

equipment (the “Approved Equipment”). As at 31 March

2021, the Approved Equipment with a net carrying amount
of approximately HK$605,000 (2020: Nil) was forbidden
to be transferred, sold or leased, with a view to making

profits, within the first three years of its procurement.
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its offices, a
staff quarter and a motor vehicle. Leases of offices and the
staff quarter generally have lease terms of 2 years, while the
motor vehicle generally has lease term of 3 years. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension and termination options
which are further discussed below.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

15. HE

REBERFBRA

AEEREETHAE  —EREES
-8B AHESH - PAENME
BEEEHE-—RAYF  mAsiEE
—RRH3F - —RMEF - AKETRE
BEEEESAHEBHEARAEESL -
ETESERIAKLEHOEENHES
KIS T S — ot o

(a) EREEE

AEE Y (FBREENENNEE
EREZHMT :

Leased buildings Motor vehicle Total

HEETF A CE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT FHET THET

As at 1 April 2019 R2019F4818 895 1,684 2,579

Additions hE 8,967 - 8,967

Depreciation nE (2,923) (307) (3,230

Termination of leases HBERIE (507) = (507)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 #2020%3A310 kK

202054A18 6,432 1,377 7,809

Additions NE 5,978 - 5,978

Depreciation nE (4,649) (251) (4,900)

Termination of leases MEKLE (1,303) = (1,303)

As at 31 March 2021 R2021%3H31H 6,458 1,126 7,584
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE (&)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
HEaERFEANEREERES

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

LN

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Carrying amount at beginning of year REYIHEREE 7,102 1,957

New leases HE 5,978 8,967
Accretion of interest recognised FATER ) RIEF S

during the year 153 198

Termination of leases HE®KRIE (1,331) (516)

Payments 3% (7,247) (3,504)

Carrying amount at end of year RERAEREE 4,655 7,102

Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENER S 3,344 4,994
Non-current portion ERBID 1,31 2,108

HERENIHA DRI ERE
Pt EE32A KR ER o

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 32 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 53R 2R Y 5
31 March 2021
20213 A31H
15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE(#&)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) REERERAERNSERNT :
leases are as follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HERENE 153 198
Depreciation charge of right-of-use {FREEEMNTES L
assets 4,900 3,230
Expense relating to short-term leases BRAGHITEE RRISREE R
and other leases with remaining 202063 A31H 5.2 Al
lease terms ended on or before 31 ERMEAMEERRX
March 2020
— Included in cost of sales —FT ASHER AR 130 373
— Included in administrative and — R AT R A
other operating expenses, net % - 58 617 2,291
747 2,664
Total amount recognised in profit or IER MR 2 4850
loss 5,800 6,092
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HERMRE KD ABED SRR

27(c) to the financial statements.

E27()F R °

BIZRERAFA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF RS ¥R AR MY At

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

16. RAABEABZNERHEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5t FHET T
Non-current: FEMED
Other investment, at quoted price ~ HEMI&E « LREFTE (a) 2,150 -
Current: wE
Listed equity investments, at fair value ETZIERE © B AR E
FrE (b) 16,469 —
Other investment, at quoted price EMRE  HRETE (b) 983 -
17,452 -
Notes: MeE
(@)  The balance was classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (a) HRASEEREEFBEMEARAERDLE
as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss through W EE - ZERESERRAREFNAER
other comprehensive income. ZEMEE -
(b)  The balances were classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (b) MBMRFHEEE ZEEBRBEIBR/RAAEA
as they were held for trading, 22 SRATE -

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

17. ENEENRE 5 BWRIA

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FAT

Other contract assets HihaHWEE 61,569 23,885
Retention receivables FEYURE & 90,462 69,834
152,031 93,719

Impairment of contract assets BHEERE (354) (232)
Net contract assets AHEEFE 151,677 93,487
Trade receivables =)l e e 108,734 241,264
Impairment of trade receivables E Z W IERE (35) (24)
Net trade receivables B 5 R WU IE F 58 108,699 241,240
260,376 334,727
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17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(a)

Other contract assets consist of the Group’s rights
to consideration for works completed but unbilled
amounts resulting from construction contracts and
RMAA. Other contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional
which was generally one to three months. As at 1
April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021, the
Group's other contract assets were HK$10,900,000,
HK$23,885,000 and HK$61,569,000, respectively. Other
contract assets increased as at 31 March 2021 and
2020 due to an increase in the ongoing provision of
construction services at the end of reporting period.

Retention receivables are part of the consideration that
the customers retain which are payable on successful
completion of the contracts in order to provide the
customers with assurance that the Group will complete
its obligation satisfactorily under the contracts, rather
than to provide financing to the customers. As at 1
April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021, the
Group's retention receivables were HK$63,583,000,
HK$69,834,000 and HK$90,462,000, respectively. At
31 March 2021, retention receivables are repayable
within terms ranging from one to two years. Included
in the retention receivables, HK$41,165,000 (2020:
HK$20,121,000) were expected to be recovered after
more than one year. Retention receivables, amounting
to HK$49,297,000 (2020: HK$49,713,000), are expected
to be recovered within twelve months. Retention
receivables increased as at 31 March 2021 due to more
contracts achieved significant progress during the year
but not yet completed as at 31 March 2021. Retention
receivables increased as at 31 March 2020 since there
were more completed contracts.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

17. EBHNEEREZRWFEIEE)

(a)

BIEZERERAT

Hih G EEREAEBEEMLT
IR RKEERFAAZSR
MRE(EEES N REE R4
EIRMESL) - REFK ARG
Hhr(BEEsAE—Z=2=Z@EA) Hit
BREEEREE S EKKIE -
#2019F4 18 + 202093 A 31
B &2021%E3A318 ' "EBZH
fib & # & &= 5 B £10,900,00075
JT * 23,885,000 T }61,569,000
BT o BEfth & K& ER2021F K&
202053 A31HIE N TR WS 2B
RIBLRGIFER IS INFTER -

FRREER/EFPRENE SR
B EERKIDTEXE LR
ARE P REASERIRE LEW
TERBLHEM - MIEAUAZTFER
HEE - R2019F4818 - 20209
3A31H K202143A31H » A&E
Z FEWRE € 9 Bl /63,583,000
JT * 69,834,000/ 7T 190,462,000/
JC ° F20214E3A31H @ EWRIR &
AR —EMFAEE - Hf - &
IR B £ 41,165,00078 7T (20204F
20,121,000 7T) B EAR —F A £
I [El o & WR B8 £49,297,0007% 7T
(20204 : 49,713,000/ JT ) 78 #f #%
R+=@EARKE - BURIREESK
2021 FE3A3MBEMIIBEREZ S
HRFEAESEXERBEHZE2021
FIANBMARTK - BEREEZ
BEEKEL - HEWIRE £72020
F3R31HBFTIEM -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

190

(c)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of contract assets are as follows:

7. BRNEEREZ BN E

() BHEERBEMNEEREZSN
B

2021 2020

20214 20205

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

At beginning of year F4) 232 =
Impairment losses (note 8) SEEE (MI5ES) 122 232
At end of year FR 354 232

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates for the measurement
of the expected credit losses of the contract assets are
based on those of the trade receivables as the contract
assets and the trade receivables are from the same
customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets
are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit
risk exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a
provision matrix:

MEATRRHRE BB RREERE
17 LFTERBEEBRE - AREMNE
EMEZREFIAEKRER—FIR - &t
EANEERBEEERNBERIE
NEZRUFENBEEE - SHEER
BEXDENAABRUBEBEANTH
BEE D& (BlizE P ERIFFEAR) &)
BB - At ERRB R IIEER
EEREENALRHREBHAENE
RABE TR « B AR BRI
BRINAERAIEEF -

ATEFIARAREA WA EERRE
FE B8 TR M) (5 B AR )

2021 2020

20214 20204

Expected credit loss rate BEHEEEEX 0.23% 0.25%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) HEME(THT) 152,031 93,719
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHEEBE(TET) 354 232
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17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(d) The transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period
related to construction contracts and RMAA services
using the output method.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

17. BREERESERFIE(E)

(d

RBERARDEEZHR TEOEE
(RETREDREIT)NRHE
REE R ENEES N REE
NEETRRBER -

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FABT
Expected to be recognised TE BRSPS — SF N HERR
within one year 953,048 1,150,527
Expected to be recognised TEEAHS P — 1R TR
after one year 232,655 504,591
1,185,703 1,655,118

For RMAA under term contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the right to invoice amount when
the control of assets or the value of individual services
transfer to the customers at a point in time. The
Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 and does not disclose the amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with an original
expected duration of one year or less.

Included in the revenue recognised during the year,
HK$5,817,000 (2020: HK$4,508,000) was related to
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods.

BIEZERERAT

SLEHIS A TRRE REETIZEM
5 REEZEHIESERRENE
ERE-RKREAHEBRERP @ A&
BAREoRSERRAMN R - A%
EERELMERE ERFEI5H
FI21BRMAITRE 25 MAE
BEIRESNERBORTNR
S REHHERA —FHMN
T o

A F N E R U 5,817,000

70 (20204 © 4,508,000/ 7T ) £ i
EHEBETNENEEER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
202193318

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(f)

192

Trade receivables represented receivables for
contract work. Management generally submit interim
payment applications to customers on a monthly basis
containing a statement setting out management’s
estimation of the valuation of the works completed
in the preceding month. Upon receiving the interim
payment application, the architect or the consultant
of the customer will verify such valuation of works
completed and issue an interim payment certificate
within 30 days. Within 30 days after the issuance of the
interim payment certificate, the customer will make
payment to the Group based on the certified amount
stipulated in such certificate, deducting any retention
money in accordance with the contract.

There is a certain concentration of credit risk. The
balances of the five largest trade receivables at 31
March 2021 and 2020 represented 89.6% and 85.1% of
the total trade receivables, respectively, while 56.3%
and 59.0% of the total trade receivables were due
from the largest trade receivable, respectively. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on
the invoice date and net of provision, is as follows:

17. EHNEERESRWFHE(ZE

B2 RUGRIEE A TI2A B
B BEE-REZARNTFER
RHINREE - EREE—MHER
BhE E—EAMTkr TRAE
RBHE - RETHNREFR T
F ey 2500 S BRI 1 & X B T TR
MIREEMEBMGE LEOK
NBEHPHAREE - TPHS
A FE e B R EE B 1R30KR A
RERABIEETMIICRENZ
BEHFREAREBEAONRES
BIAAEBIELHK -

FrEETEFEERR - 12021
F K%20203831H - KEAKE
SRV IEEH D RIMEE 5 BRI
TE 48 5889.6% 885.1% * 1 K B &
RNE S REWFIES MG E 5 EIGK
TH 48 5856.3% M 59.0% ° & 5 E U
SRIBW TR o

REZZAHALNGRE  EFE
WRIBERRREE D ATEA T

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Trade receivables: E 5 EWFIE
Within 90 days SPNA 108,000 238,214
91 to 180 days 912 180K 699 1,172
181 to 365 days 181F 365K — 1,606
Over 365 days FBIBI65K - 248
108,699 241,240
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17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(f)  (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9 which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables. The ECL rate for the Group's trade
receivables is minimal for all the above bands of trade
receivables.

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

7. ERNEEREZRWFEAE)

(f) (&)

REBEABBCTERBRB TR
SREAERRENBREEBR
AHERME - ZEAAHEMEES
J& WK IR 68 PR £ T 4F A TR A S 1R 33
- NEEWE 5 RN SIARTARE
EERXE CAMAREBNESE
WA & K

18. MMARIE » BERHMEBRFIR

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Prepayments TERTRRIE 16,848 19,080
Deposits and other receivables e R E A W FRIA 9,826 32,046
26,674 51,126

Less: Prepayments and deposits B DBRRIERDEEL
classified as non-current assets FENFERIES (5,379) (6,331)
Current portion mEEB D 21,295 44,795

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at 31 March 2021 and
2020, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.
Included in other receivables are loans to subcontractors of
HK$4,481,000 (2020: HK$27,965,000) as at 31 March 2021,
which are unsecured, bear interest at 7% per annum or
interest-free and are repayable on demand.

P EESEAITORE - sTA LA
B S REEEBETHENTE RS
HAFIBE R FE W SRIE B B8 o R202146F &
20203 H31 R - BiERERT G AR
1K o 7202143318 - 4,481,0005 7T
(20204 : 27,965,000/ 70) & F 5 &
HMERGTAHMBYRIE ZEENE
B UAFFEI%T B BIWAIR

BIERARAT  F#}/20202021 193



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

19. RERBITHEER

2021 2020

20214 20204

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

gz THET FAT

Cash and bank balances e MIRTTEERH 120,639 35,047
Deposits fFak 47,302 137,599
167,941 172,646

Less: Pledged deposits W EIRE R 26 (42,193) (31,873)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEY 125,748 140,773

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for
varying periods of between 1 months and 3 months, and
earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2021, certain bank facilities were secured by
pledged deposits of HK$8,000,000 (2020: HK$15,500,000).
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20. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

21.

An ageing analysis of the trade and retention payables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

20. EZENREARENRES

RBEMREBZEH2I0EZEN
KRN EMNREEREDNOT

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#ETT

Trade payables: B SN IR
Within 3 months AR 72,680 120,664
Retention payables ERRE 71,078 62,542
143,758 183,206

Retention payables were normally settled within terms
ranging from one to two years.

Trade and retention payables are non-interest-bearing.
The payment terms of trade payables are stipulated in the
relevant contracts with credit periods of 30 days in general.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

ENFREE RN —EMFREN -

BHRNFBARENREETE - B
SN FRAS N GRRTIAREES L

N EEHRA30K -

21. HttEN AR ETER

2021 2020
20214 20204F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FATT

Other payables H A R FIE 1,883 730
Accruals FEETE R 60,334 104,844
Contract liability SRBE 5,949 =
68,166 105,574

Financial liabilities of HK$41,840,000 (2020: HK$70,325,000)
as at 31 March 2021 included in other payables and
accruals are non-interest-bearing and are expected to be
settled within one year.

The contract liability as at 31 March 2021 represented a
short-term advance received from a customer for building
construction services (1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020: Nil).

MR2021493A31H © 41,840,000 JT
(20204 : 70,325,000 7T ) 5+ A H A i
NRBEREFEANSREETTE -
TBER —FAER -

R2021F3A31EMANABEBEA— 2T
FREFEERGTWEAE R
(20194 81H K%2020%3A31H: ) o
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31 March 2021
202193318

22. DEFERRED TAX

The deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the movements during
the year are as follows:

22.

Impairment

of contract

BB E
R A MR R R MEEHIAR R
RERNZHMT :

Depreciation

allowance in

assets and excess of
trade related
receivables  depreciation Total
BHEERES BHERTEN
FEWCRR IR B RE rERE CHl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHE T FHET
At 1 April 2019 201964 A1H - 632 632
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss FAE Bz KR
during the year (note 11) EEF IR (FIEE11) - 182 182
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 202063318 &
20204 A 1H - 814 814
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss G RFFAIBZRHHY
during the year (note 11) BIETR IR (FEE11) (64) (22) (86)
At 31 March 2021 M202143H31H (64) 792 728

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$85,000 (2020: Nil) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arise. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
these tax losses can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

gy E E IR
31 March 2021
20219F3H31H
23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. lR7
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,0000% & I& &
HK$0.01 each 0.01B TR LA 50,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
800,000,000 ordinary shares of 800,000,000/% & I E &
HK$0.01 each 0.0178 T H) & AR 8,000 8,000
RESERVES 24. f#tE

24.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial

statements.

(i)

(ii)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of
the paid-up share capital of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group attributable to the controlling
shareholder prior to the group reorganisation as set
out in the Company’s prospectus dated 30 January
2019.

Shares held under share award plan

Shares acquired and held by the Company are
recognised directly in equity at cost. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, 5,304,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were purchased by the trustee at
an average price of HK$0.19 per share at a total
consideration of approximately HK$996,000. The shares
have been recognised as shares held under share
award plan. As at 31 March 2021, no shares have been
granted under the share award plan adopted on 31
July 2020.

AEERAEEMBEFEORFENIE
EHTENUHRRNGAEREB R
25 -

(ii)

BIEZERERAT

BB

B OB RARRT A HR2019F
TA0RZ A ERMHEMNEEE
AERTIER R (A B AT AR BE T
FE N R B A A AR

RiBR D RBE EFFERG

RAARBERFA ZRHIBZKAR
HEERBRAER - REE20214
BANBLLFE - XFTEAUFRF
9 (B #%0.197% 7T i & 75,304,000
f& &R EEC.0E T E MK - 42
KB #1996,000/8 T 5% F D 1
R AIRER D BT ST A R
3 o 2021438318 * BERKHK
B IFE 202097 A 31 B R4 2 B 1D
HREENETEIRE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B SRR M

31 March 2021

2021%3H31H

25.

198

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”)
on 31 July 2020 (the "Adoption Date”), under which any
employee of the Group and its invested entities, who
contributes to the Group or its invested entities (the "Eligible
Participants”), will be entitled to participate, in order to
recognise and reward the contribution of the Eligible
Participants to the growth and development of the Group;
to give incentives to the Eligible Participants in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group; and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

The Group has set up a trust (the “Share Award Plan
Trust”) for the purpose of administrating the Share Award
Plan. The Share Award Plan Trust will acquire shares of
the Company to be awarded under the Share Award Plan
from The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, with a
maximum amount of funds to be allocated by the Board,
and hold such shares until they are vested. Unless early
terminated by the Board, the Share Award Plan shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
from the Adoption Date.

The Share Award Plan shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the Adoption Date (i.e.
80,000,000 shares) to be subscribed for the purchase of
the shares to be awarded to the Eligible Participants to be
selected by the Board.

The vesting of shares awarded to the awardees is subject

to conditions and vesting schedules as determined by the
Board at its discretion.
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25.

26.

SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

On 23 December 2020, the Company paid HK$1,000,000 to
the Share Award Plan Trust, and approximately HK$996,000
of which was used to purchase 5,304,000 shares, which
were held by the trustee for the benefit of the Eligible
Participants under the Share Award Plan Trust as at 31
March 2021.

No share has been granted or vested under the Share
Award Plan since its Adoption Date and up to 31 March

2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

25.

26.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

Bt REET&I(E)

202012 A238 » A QA {5 8
B 5T 211z 5T X 141,000,000 7T+ E
#7996,0007% 7T FA 72 B B5,304,000% %
D ARFEAR2021E3831 BB E K
MBI EIEERE B2 HENR R
Fifsh o

ERAB B EREZR2021F3A8310 0 &
DEBEEIE THER NS EBRG -

PEREHIR - WARRI HRRBEER
RBEWT :

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Performance bonds BARE S 119,107 82,639

The Group provided unlimited guarantees to certain
banks and an insurance company in support of the issue
of performance bonds to the Group's subsidiaries. As at
31 March 2021, certain performance bonds granted were
secured by pledged deposits of HK$34,193,000 (2020:
HK$16,373,000).

BIEZERERAT

AEERE TRITE—BRR QAR
HERE  UFRANEENE QA
BITREAORETR - R202143A31
B ETERBEORIHERER
34,193,000/ JT.(2020%F : 16,373,000/
TOHER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 27. #E6BE&RERMT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) METBELENEESR
Interest-
bearing
bank Lease
borrowing liabilities
STEERITER HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 April 2019 MR2019F4 /418 10,000 1,957
Changes from financing cash flows MERERNEEENEH) (10,161) (3,306)
Interest expense B 161 198
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows DAL EREREZ
BRFE — (198)
New leases EE = 8,967
Termination of leases HEKIE - (516)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 MR202083A318 &
20204 A 1H - 7,102
Changes from financing cash flows MERERNEEENES) (46) (7,094)
Interest expense MEFX 46 153
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows HDEALEREREL
EAFE - (153)
New leases Mg = 5,978
Termination of leases MEKIE - (1,331)
At 31 March 2021 202163 H31H - 4,655
(b) Major non-cash transactions (b) FEHFRERS
() During the year ended 31 March 2021, the () B Z2021F38318 IEFE -
Group had non-cash additions to right-of- rEERHERTFHNEESR
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$5,978,000 Bt 9 Bl 5,978,000 7T(2020
(2020: HK$8,967,000) and HK$5,978,000 (2020: £ :8,967,000% 7T ) 125,978,000
HK$8,967,000), respectively, in respect of lease 75 70 (20204 ¢ 8,967,0005 7t )
arrangements for leased buildings. MERAEEERASEEIR
EBARE °
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Major non-cash transactions (continued)

(i)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
had non-cash disposals of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$1,303,000 (2020: HK$507,000)
and HK$1,331,000 (2020: HK$516,000), respectively,
in respect of termination of leases for leased
buildings.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
was granted a government grant of HK$1,479,000
for the purchase of the Approved Equipment, an
amount of HK$1,183,000 was received during the
year and a receivable of HK$296,000 was included
in “Prepayments, deposits and other receivables”
as at 31 March 2021.

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

27. RERERBRME(E)

(b)

TEHRERFH (E)

(i)

(iii)

HZE2021F3A31B LFE -
AEEREEEFNHAER
£ 315 1,303,000 7T (2020
% : 507,000/ 7T) & 1,331,000
7 70 (20204 : 516,000/ 7T )
mERAEEEREEBREIE
WEHE o

HZE2021F3A31ALFE -
AEEREECHEREE
R AT 4 851,479,000 7T -
4 R Y 21,183,000 7T
B — % JE I 3K 18296,0007%
JCHR2021F3A318 5 Al &
RIE - R &H M FE R
B

HENEREERH AR
AR ERERNEENRESRH

statement of cash flows is as follows: BWREOAE -
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within operating activities RETRBA 900 2,862
Within financing activities BEEEBA 7,094 3,306
7,994 6,168

28. H&iE

28. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
any significant commitments.

i o

BIEZERERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

29.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of their remuneration are
disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.

Included in the disclosure of the five highest paid
individuals in note 10, the total salaries, housing allowances,
other allowances and benefits in kind paid to Ms. Lai Yuk
Lin Eliza, the spouse of a director, including the in-kind
housing allowance of HK$1,654,000 (2020: HK$1,723,000) for
the rental payment and outgoings of a director’'s quarter,
which was jointly used by Mr. Tsang Ka Yip.

29. BERRS

REBFTEEEEAEME

REETEEEEABRAARES -
WEFH N F BRBENT B RAM S -

R0 RAEESHMA LR
BOEN—R2EFCEBREERTY
RS FEZEM - HtREREY
BREEE - P BEERERA1,654,000
7 70 (20204 : 1,723,000/ 7T ) U B )
EERMAEINESEA(BYRE
FEHRFER)EERFAKL -

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. RESINEMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial BEReREENREHREAENT :
assets as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Financial assets EHEE
2021 20214
Financial assets at
fair value through  Financial assets
profit or loss  at amortised cost Total
BARESA  BREERE .
BENEREE HENEREE CHS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Trade receivables B 5 EE = 108,699 108,699
Financial assets included in prepayments, AAABNTOR - 28 RAM
deposits and other receivables IR S BEE - 9,826 9,826
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  EARBEFABRNEHMEE 19,602 = 19,602
Pledged deposits EREFH = 42,193 42,193
Time deposits EHER = 5,109 5,109
Cash and bank balances Be RRTHE = 120,639 120,639
19,602 286,466 306,068
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

31.

(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

30. REEISMEMITAE

Financial assets (continued) THEE(E)
2020 2020%F
Financial assets
at amortised cost
R R A
STEMNESRMEE
HK$’'000
FHET
Trade receivables B 5 WA 241,240
Financial assets included in prepayments, STATENRRIE « e REAMEYGRIE
deposits and other receivables HEmEE 32,046
Pledged deposits ERFR 31,873
Time deposits EHFR 105,726
Cash and bank balances Re MIBITHER 35,047
445,932

All financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are
financial liabilities stated at amortised cost.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, contract assets and trade receivables,
trade and retention payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

31.

BIEZERERAT

R20214 ) 202053 A31R - B2 &
BB RE R ATIAR -

AREREBRTAZAARERER

EEECHERERAEEEY 61
BENEZREFIE  BHRMNRIER
ENFRES  StATRNTIR - Rk E
1l FEUR IR B & B & BE M st AEARFE (S
FRENEFERNEREBBEZANER
RHEMEE  ET2RA/ZSTAEH
M2 -
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2021

Quoted prices

(%)

P

EHER

!

J

c

TREMAEEESM T AZ AR ER

B

=

il

BARETBHEE -

M2021F3A31H

Fair value measurement using
ERATIISIEETARENE

Significant Significant

PREREMIAZARERER

fBin

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EXRTBE EXRTUEE
TERT ISR E BWARE (PN ¢4
(B—%) (B=#) (B=#) ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FET FTET
Listed equity investments i RERE 16,469 = = 16,469
Other investments Hig & - 3,133 = 3,133
16,469 3,133 - 19,602

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at

fair value as at 31 March 2020.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers

into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2020: Nil).
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, deposits, trade
and other receivables, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, time deposits and cash and bank balances.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes to the financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to contract
assets and trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged
deposits, time deposits and cash and bank balances. The
Group’s maximum credit risk exposure at the end of the
reporting period in the event of other parties failing to
perform their obligations is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing
basis. The Group’s trade receivables from contract work
represent interim billings or retentions certified by the
customers under terms as stipulated in the contracts.
As the Group's customers in respect of contract work
primarily consist of the Government and quasi-Government
organisations, property developers or owners with strong
financial backgrounds, management considers that the
risk of irrecoverable receivables from contract work is not
significant.

BIEZERERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB AR TR

31 March 2021
20213 A31H
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32.

206

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the concentrations of
credit risk of the contract assets and trade receivables which
were due from the Group's largest external customer and
the Group's five largest external customers, respectively.

2. WBEREEBERBKR(E)

EERR(E)

TERDIBRERAEEZFRIMNEERP
MAKERARINGEFENEENRES
EURIBERNEERTER

2021 2020
20214 20204
Percentage of contract assets and RENTEHNEERES
trade receivables due from: FEWGRIE B L
Group's largest external customer REEZKINEEF 52.5% 50.7%
Group's five largest external customers A& E A KINBRF 80.4% 79.7%

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from contract assets and
trade receivables are disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to
providing for impairment for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for impairment of all contract assets and trade
receivables. To measure the ECLs, contract assets and
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs
also incorporate forward-looking information. Given that
the customers of the Group are mainly well-known property
developers, the Government and quasi-Government
organisations and there was no history of default in prior
years, the directors of the Company considered the default
rate of financial assets is minimal.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The other receivables represented loans to subcontractors.
The impairment provision for other receivables during
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 was limited
to 12-month ECLs. Since they were considered to be of
low credit risk, management considered no provision for
impairment of other receivables was necessary for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

All of the current portions of the other receivable balances
are expected to be recovered within one year.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair values of investments
held for trading decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group was exposed to market risk arising from individual
investments classified as held for trading (note 16) as at 31
March 2021. Based on their carrying amounts at the end of
the reporting period, an increase/decrease of 10% in the
fair values of the financial assets, with all other variables
held constant and before any impact on tax, would result in
an increase/decrease in profit before tax of HK$1,745,000
(2020: Nil).

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to monitor regularly the current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. In addition,
banking facilities have been put in place for contingency
purposes.

BIEZERERAT
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2. I EBEEREERBEGE)

FERR(E)
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210% -+ #EEBRT AR FIE hn, 5 >
1,745,000 7T (20204 : &) ©

RBETER

AEBNBR 2 E R LIAMR
PELER ﬁﬁﬂﬁhﬁiﬁi%ﬁ
RAFTETHEBEAENSBETR
=R L/(/%E%4Hﬁ&§ﬁﬂ//|b§b§ig>i °
A - EEGIRITREFRSZA -

F$32020/2021 207



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR Y

31 March 2021
20214F3A31H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities as at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date that the Group could be required to repay:

32.

B EREEBRRBEER(E)

RBESER(E)

TRHVNAEESRAENREHRR
BENARFTRRASRE(BRERGLD
BXRFAEN SR - HEES - Bl
REHREDAREFNRFE)FEHR
HRAEWBIHANRAEE L AEERN
RFEAH

=

2021 20214
In the
Within one In the third to
year or on second fifth years,
demand year inclusive Total
F=FE
—F R BHF
RER E=F (BEERWHF) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET FHET
Trade and retention payables S RENFIER
N RES 113,985 28,924 1,388 144,297
Other payables and accruals B Ath & RRIA K
et E A 41,840 - - 41,840
Lease liabilities HERAE 3,414 1,235 90 4,739
159,239 30,159 1,478 190,876
2020 20204F
In the
Within one In the third to
year or on second  fifth years,
demand year inclusive Total
FE=FZF
—FRE ERF
RER E-F (FEEWF) a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET THTT FH#ETT
Trade and retention payables B S RENFIAR
FENRE S 168,255 12,040 3,784 184,079
Other payables and accruals F b T FRIE 2
FEst R 70,325 - - 70,325
Lease liabilities HEAE 5,158 2,140 = 7,298
243,738 14,180 3,784 261,702
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure on a periodical
basis. As part of this review, the Group considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital
and will balance the Group’s overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as raising new debts or
repayment of existing debts. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio,
which is net debt divided by equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. Net debt includes lease liabilities
less cash and bank balances and time deposits. The
Group's policy is to maintain a stable debt-to-equity ratio.
The debt-to-equity ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S ER AR Y

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

2. WBEREEBERBRKR(E)

REE

¥
il

BEAEERRNEIEBEREBR
A SR RETE - AN
BAHELE  URFHEMERA

G A B

ol e

AEETEHERERERE - (EREHD
—8n  AEBEREAKANEES
BEARMBEER - W EBBHMAETR
EENBEXNEEREEHR TEHAEEE
RENER AKBETZIMINEBIE
ME)E AR RSKATR ) o B E20219F
2020F3A31RIEFE - EBEARMAE
% BREGEREMELZS

AEENABESERLRERER &
R L R B ERF R AR A R 2
FREARGREREMEH - BFFHEE
RHEERERR S MRITERIENTF
Ko ARENBER SRR EH B X
RE - MERRNWEFERLFMOT

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Lease liabilities HEAE 4,655 7,102
Less: Cash and bank balances B R e RIRTTR R KR BT

and time deposits (125,748) (140,773)

Net debt B FE (121,093) (133,671)

Equity attributable to equity holders AT ANEHER
of the Company 281,015 277,969
Debt-to-equity B am b R N/A TEA N/A T35

BIEZERERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ¥R R i et

31 March 2021

20214 3A31H

33. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 33. ke
The comparative consolidated statement of cash flows meReRERTHLREFTEET
has been re-presented to conform with the current year's NEREFEZE2|—5 -

presentation.

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34. XX RHBBEARR T
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the BRARQERRERARNTHEARAERE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary I B A RIRIRE = —*
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERFRIE -~ R R E A EWGRIE
other receivables - 210
Due from a subsidiary JE U — 3BT /B8 & RIRKIE 37,202 7,626
Time deposits TEHRTFR - 76,800
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTEER 30,312 727
Total current assets B EELTE 67,514 85,363
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 67,514 85,363
Net assets BEFE 67,514 85,363
EQUITY S
Issued capital BT 8,000 8,000
Reserves (Note) GGz 59,514 77,363
Total equity R 67,514 85,363
@ Less than HK$500 * D500/ 7T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS IR AR P E

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34. XA TR RER(E
COMPANY (continued)

Note: Btz -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RABEEEENT -
Shares held
Share under share Accumulated
premium award plan losses Total
R AR AD 22 @ N
RIDEE FFERAEERS 2FTEE At
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FHT FHET FHET
At 1 April 2019 R201954818 103,167 - (13,436) 89,731
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the FREEREZMH
year KB - = (1,168) (1,168)
Dividends paid to the shareholders of the BEfARATMEM
Company BE (11,200) - - (11,200)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 FA2020F3A31AK
202054818 91,967 - (14,604) 77,363
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the FREERKEM
year X - - (1,653) (1,653)
Dividends paid to the shareholders of the BAIARATREHN
Company BE (15,200) - - (15,200)
Purchase of shares under share award plan BERIERMD B E
Frs B R = (996) - (996)
At 31 March 2021 7A2021F3A318 76,767 (996) (16,257) 59,514
35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 35. it EMEHE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for BT EN2021F6H2BEESES
issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2021. BUfE R R T3 -
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. FINANGCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for each of the last five financial years is set out below:

EELE

Results for the year ended 31 March

R AN B F LR RE
EREEBSHIMT

BZE3A3THLFENES
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET T FAT FAT
Revenue I & 1,103,157 1,204,001 980,589 980,828 722,075
Cost of sales THER A (1,047,756) (1,099,388) (890,081) (903,536) (665,747)
Gross profit EF 55,401 104,613 90,508 77,292 56,328
Other income and gains E A WA Kz 14,131 6,676 4,091 5,849 6,926
Loss on disposal of other B R SRR
financial assets at amortised  FFEZHfM&
cost A E BB = = = (317) =
Administrative and other FTIE R B Ath 48 &
operating expenses, net FY - B (48,519) (50,579) (47,365) (32,277) (24,628)
Finance costs IR Ip#N (199) (359) (600) (244) (512)
Profit before tax R A% AR 20,814 60,351 46,634 50,303 38,114
Income tax PR1SHE (1,572) (9,855) (9,4006) (8,896) (6,296)
Profit and total comprehensive F R Fl| & 2
income for the year WA LBEE 19,242 50,496 37,228 41,407 31,818
As at 31 March
MA3H31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204F 20194 20184F 20174F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT FAET FAT
Total assets BEE 498,322 575,034 501,078 337,732 376,749
Total liabilities warE (217,307) (297,065) (262,402) (197,451) (277,875)
Total equity BRERS 281,015 277,969 238,676 140,281 98,874
212 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020/2021
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